Cosmic Probes of Dark Matter

Conveners: Alex Drlica-Wagner, Chanda Prescod-Weinstein, Hai-Bo Yu

Contributors: Andrea Albert, Mustafa Amin, Arka Banerjee, Masha Baryakhtar, Keith Bechtol, Simeon Bird, Simon Birrer, Torsten Bringmann, Regina Caputo, Sukanya Chakrabarti, Thomas Y. Chen, Djuna Croon, Francis-Yan Cyr-Racine, William A. Dawson, Cora Dvorkin, Vera Gluscevic, Daniel Gilman, Daniel Grin, Renée Hložek, Rebecca K. Leane, Ting S. Li, Yao-Yuan Mao, Joel Meyers, Siddharth Mishra-Sharma, Julian B. Muñoz, Ferah Munshi, Ethan O. Nadler, Aditya Parikh, Kerstin Perez, Annika H. G. Peter, Stefano Profumo, Katelin Schutz, Neelima Sehgal, Joshua D. Simon, Kuver Sinha, Monica Valluri, Risa H. Wechsler

Abstract

Cosmological and astrophysical observations currently provide the only robust, positive evidence for dark matter. Cosmic probes of dark matter, which seek to determine the fundamental properties of dark matter through observations of the cosmos, have emerged as a promising means to reveal the nature of dark matter. This report summarizes the current status and future potential of cosmic probes to inform our understanding of the fundamental nature of dark matter in the coming decade.

Contents

3	Cosn	nic Probes of Dark Matter	1
	3.1	Executive Summary	2
	3.2	Introduction	6
	3.3	Dark Matter Halo Measurements	9
	3.4	Cosmological Simulations of Dark Matter	12
	3.5	Primordial Black Holes and the Early Universe	17
	3.6	Dark Matter in Extreme Astrophysical Environments	19
	3.7	Facilities for Cosmic Probes of Dark Matter	22
		3.7.1 Current/Near-Future Facilities	23
		3.7.2 Future Facilities	24
	3.8	Tools for Cosmic Probes of Dark Matter Physics	26
	3.9	Roads to New Physics	28
		3.9.1 Warm and Self-Interacting Dark Matter	28
		3.9.2 Primordial Black Holes	30
		3.9.3 Axions and Axion-like Particles	32
	3.10	Summary and Outlook	33

3.1 Executive Summary

The existence of dark matter, which constitutes $\sim 85\%$ of the matter density and $\sim 26\%$ of the total energy density of the universe, is a clear demonstration that we lack a complete understanding of fundamental physics. The importance, impact, and interdisciplinary nature of the dark matter problem make it one of the most exciting questions in science today. In this report, we explain how cosmic probes of dark matter, which determine microscopic

properties of dark matter through cosmic observations on macroscopic scales, have emerged as one of the most promising ways to unveil the nature of dark matter. The HEP community must seize the opportunity to fully realize the potential of cosmic probes of dark matter and broaden its approach to the dark matter problem accordingly in the coming decade.

Cosmological and astrophysical observations currently provide the *only* robust, empirical evidence for dark matter. These observations, together with numerical simulations of cosmic structure formation, have established the cold dark matter (CDM) paradigm and lay the groundwork for all other experimental efforts to characterize the fundamental properties of dark matter. In the coming decade, we will measure the distribution of dark matter in the cosmos with unprecedented precision. In particular, we are at the threshold of definitively testing the predictions of CDM on galactic and sub-galactic scales, and any observed deviation would revolutionize our understanding of the fundamental nature of dark matter. Furthermore, by accessing extreme scales and environments, cosmic probes are sensitive to very rare interactions between dark matter and normal matter that are inaccessible in conventional dark matter searches. Cosmic measurements of dark matter properties are entering the *precision era*.

This report summarizes the ways in which cosmic probes have emerged as a new field in the endeavor to measure the fundamental, microscopic properties of dark matter. We first identify three core HEP community priorities for cosmic probes of dark matter:

- Current/near-future HEP cosmology experiments have direct sensitivity to dark matter particle physics [1–3]. Cosmological studies of dark matter should be supported as a key component of the HEP Cosmic Frontier program due to their unique ability to probe dark matter microphysics and link the results of terrestrial dark matter experiments to cosmological measurements.
- The construction of future cosmology experiments is critical for expanding our understanding of dark matter physics. Proposed facilities across the electromagnetic spectrum, as well as gravitational waves, can provide sensitivity to dark matter physics [4]. The HEP community should make strategic investments in the design, construction, and operation of these facilities in order to maximize their sensitivity to dark matter physics.
- Cosmic probes provide robust sensitivity to the microphysical properties of dark matter due to enormous progress in theoretical modeling, numerical simulations, and astrophysical observations. Theory, simulation, observation, and experiment must be supported together to maximize the efficacy of cosmic probes of dark matter physics.

We have identified the following major scientific opportunities for cosmic probes of dark matter physics in the coming decade. These opportunities are summarized below, presented at length in the subsequent sections of this report, and discussed in detail in a set of community white papers [1-11].

Major Scientific Opportunities

- 1. The HEP community should support measurements of the dark matter distribution as a key element of its Cosmic Frontier program. The Standard Model of particle physics and cosmology can be tested at unprecedented levels of precision by measuring the cosmic distribution of dark matter. These measurements span an enormous range of scales from the observable universe to sub-stellar-mass systems (e.g., the matter power spectrum, the mass spectrum of dark matter halos, dark matter halo density profiles, and abundances of compact objects) [5, 7, 12]. Novel particle properties of dark matter (e.g., self-interactions, quantum wave features, tight couplings with radiation) can lead to observable signatures in the distribution of dark matter that differ from the CDM prediction.
- 2. The HEP community should pursue the detection of dark matter halos below the threshold of galaxy formation as an exceptional test of fundamental dark matter properties. The CDM model makes the strong, testable prediction that the mass spectrum of dark matter halos extends below the threshold at which galaxies form, $\mathcal{O}(10^7) M_{\odot}$ [5]. Sub-galactic dark matter halos are less influenced by baryonic processes making them especially clean probes of fundamental physics of dark matter. We are on the cusp of detecting dark matter halos that are devoid of visible stars through several cosmic probes (e.g., strong lensing and the dynamics of stars around the Milky Way).
- 3. Instruments, observations, and theorists that study extreme astrophysical environments should be supported as an essential way to explore the expanding landscape of dark matter models. Extreme astrophysical environments provide unique opportunities to explore dark matter couplings to the Standard Model that are inaccessible with conventional dark matter search experiments and span \sim 50 orders of magnitude in dark matter particle mass [8].
- 4. HEP computational expertise and resources should be combined with astrophysical simulation expertise to rapidly advance numerical simulations of dark matter physics. Numerical simulations of structure formation and baryonic physics are critical to robustly interpret observational results and disentangle new dark matter physics from astrophysical effects [6]. Simulations are thus essential to address particle physics questions about the nature of dark matter.
- 5. While large experimental collaborations are naturally matched to the HEP community, new mechanisms are also needed to support emerging, interdisciplinary efforts. The interdisciplinary nature of cosmic probes of dark matter calls for innovative new ways to support the pursuit of scientific opportunities across traditional disciplinary boundaries. Sustained collaboration between particle theorists, gravitational dynamicists, numerical simulators, observers, and experimentalists is required to fully realize the power of cosmic probes of dark matter.

These major opportunities represent pathways for transforming our understanding of dark matter. We observe that the trend in dark matter research has changed profoundly in the last 10 years. In particular, particle physicists and astrophysicists have collaborated to make a series of breakthroughs in studying dark matter theories beyond the CDM paradigm. For example, the idea of dark sectors, i.e., that dark matter may reside in its own sector and carry its own forces, has been firmly established, together with associated theoretical tools. Such a dark force could operate at the most fundamental level with a range of $\mathcal{O}(10^{-12})$ cm, but it would change the dark matter distribution within $\mathcal{O}(10^{22})$ cm in galactic halos. Simulators can now perform cosmological hydrodynamical simulations of structure formation that account for the particle physics properties of dark matter, such as self-interactions [13-[15], quantum wave features [16], and tight couplings with radiation [17]. These studies set the basis for quantifying astrophysical uncertainties and disentangling dark matter physics from baryon physics, a key step for extracting the Lagrangian parameters that describe a particular dark matter model. Advances since the last Snowmass study combined with the scientific outlook assembled in this Snowmass study motivate the possibility that cosmic probes may result in a transformational change in our understanding of dark matter in the coming decade.

On the experimental side, new observational facilities that directly measure dark matter in the cosmos will be taking data within the next decade, see [4] for details. For example, the DOE- and NSF-supported Rubin Observatory Legacy Survey of Space and Time (LSST) is scheduled to start full operations in 2024 [18]. The primary HEP interest in Rubin LSST is the study of dark energy; however, it has enormous potential to discover new physics beyond CDM [2, 19]. Rubin LSST will observe the faintest satellite galaxies of the Milky Way, stellar streams, and strong lens systems to detect the smallest dark matter halos, thereby probing the minimum mass of ultra-light dark matter and thermal warm dark matter. Gravitational lensing will provide precise measurements of the densities and shapes of dark matter halos, which are sensitive probes of interactions in the dark sector. Microlensing measurements will directly probe primordial black holes and the compact object fraction of dark matter at the sub-percent level over a wide range of masses. On a longer time horizon, the CMB Stage-4 (CMB-S4) project [20, 21], another cosmology experiment supported by DOE and NSF, has access to rich dark matter physics as well [3]. For instance, detection of additional relativistic degrees of freedom in the early universe would immediately imply the existence of a dark sector. The HEP community strongly supports the inclusion of dark matter physics in the research programs of these experiments alongside studies of dark energy and inflation.

Since cosmic probes of dark matter are multidisciplinary *and* interdisciplinary, we must develop new ways to cultivate and sustain collaboration, as well as new approaches to mentoring the next-generation of scientists. A program like the DOE Dark Matter New Initiatives is well-suited to support a small-scale collaborative effort from particle physicists and astrophysicists with a well-defined scientific goal. Within upcoming HEP cosmology experiments such as Rubin LSST and CMB-S4, new effort is needed to assemble collaborative

teams to study cosmic probes of dark matter physics. Additional support must be provided to enable dark matter as a parallel branch of fundamental physics being pursued by these experiments. Such a program will fully leverage the unprecedented capabilities of these facilities [2]. On large scales, the construction of future cosmology experiments is critical for expanding our understanding of dark matter physics. HEP involvement will be essential for the design and construction of these facilities [4], and dark matter physics should be a core component of their scientific missions.

Identifying the nature of dark matter is one of the most important tasks in science. Cosmic probes are the most "expansive" (and may be the only viable) approach to understanding fundamental properties of dark matter, because they are valid even if the coupling between dark matter and normal matter is extremely weak, even as weak as gravity. With new observational facilities coming online, plans for future facilities emerging, and tremendous progress being made in numerical simulations and semi-analytical modeling, we are entering a transformative decade in the effort to measure the microscopic properties of dark matter from cosmic observations. In this report, we present the possibilities created by a community commitment to a decade of dark matter.

3.2 Introduction

Over the past several decades, experimental searches for non-baryonic dark matter have proceeded along several complementary avenues. Collider experiments attempt to produce and detect the presence of dark matter particles, while direct detection experiments attempt to measure energy deposition from very rare interactions between dark matter and Standard Model particles. In parallel, indirect dark matter searches seek to detect the energetic Standard Model products from the annihilation or decay of dark matter particles *in situ* in astrophysical systems. Despite these extensive efforts, the only positive measurements of dark matter to date come from astrophysical and cosmological observations. This report summarizes the exciting scientific opportunities presented by cosmic probes of fundamental dark matter physics in the coming decade, as highlighted in Fig. 3-1 schematically. The content of this report has been primarily guided by five solicited white papers [4–8] and six contributed white papers from the HEP community [1–3, 9–11].

Astrophysical and cosmological observations are a unique, powerful, and complementary technique to study the fundamental properties of dark matter. They probe dark matter directly through gravity, the only force to which dark matter is known to couple. On large cosmological scales, current observational data can be described by a simple cosmological model containing stable, non-relativistic, collisionless, cold dark matter. However, many viable theoretical models of dark matter predict observable deviations from CDM that are testable with current and future experimental programs. Fundamental physical properties





Figure 3-1. Cosmic observations bound the available dark matter parameter space and probe dark matter physics over the entire allowed mass range. Cosmic probes explore the fundamental physics of dark matter both through gravity alone and through dark matter interactions with the Standard Model. Cosmic probes of dark matter physics are highly complementary to cosmological measurements of dark energy, inflation, and neutrinos. Furthermore, cosmic probes provide essential information for designing and interpreting terrestrial searches for dark matter. Figure inspired by similar figures in the literature [e.g., 22–24].

of dark matter—e.g., particle mass, time evolution, self-interaction cross section, and coupling to the Standard Model or other dark sector particles—can imprint themselves on the macroscopic distribution of dark matter in a detectable manner.

In addition, astrophysical observations complement terrestrial dark matter searches by providing input to direct and indirect dark matter experiments, and by enabling alternative tests of any non-gravitational coupling(s) between dark matter and the Standard Model. For example, astrophysical observations are required to (i) measure the local density and velocity distribution of dark matter, an important input for designing and interpreting direct dark matter searches, (ii) identify and characterize regions of high dark matter density, an important input for targeting and interpreting indirect searches, and (iii) set strong constraints on the particle properties of dark matter, an important input for designing novel terrestrial dark matter experiments with viable discovery potential. In the event of a terrestrial dark matter detection—e.g., the detection of a weakly interacting massive particle (WIMP) or axion cosmic observations will be crucial to interpret terrestrial measurements in the context of cosmic dark matter. Furthermore, cosmic probes provide critical information to direct future terrestrial searches for novel dark matter candidates. Finally, in many cases, astrophysical and cosmological observations provide the *only* robust constraints on the viable range of dark matter models.

There is also immense discovery potential at the intersection of particle physics, cosmology, and astrophysics. The detection of dark matter halos that are completely devoid of visible galaxies would provide an extremely sensitive probe of new dark matter physics. Measuring a deviation from the gravitational predictions of CDM in these halos would provide muchneeded experimental guidance on dark matter properties that are not easily measured in particle physics experiments (e.g., dark matter self-interaction cross sections). Likewise, results from terrestrial particle physics experiments can suggest specific deviations from the CDM paradigm that can be tested with astrophysical observations. The expanding landscape of theoretical models for dark matter strongly motivates the exploration of dark matter parameter space beyond the current sensitivity of the HEP program.

In fact, cosmology has a long history of testing the fundamental properties of dark matter. For instance, neutrinos were long considered a viable candidate to make up all the dark matter [e.g., 25, 26]. The 30 eV neutrino dark matter candidate of the 1980s is an especially interesting case study of the interplay between particle physics experiments and astrophysical observations. In 1980, Lubimov et al. reported the discovery of a non-zero neutrino rest mass in the range $14 \,\mathrm{eV} < m_{\nu} < 46 \,\mathrm{eV}$ [27]. Neutrinos with this mass would provide a significant fraction of the critical energy density of the universe, but would be relativistic at the time of decoupling, thus manifesting as hot dark matter. Over the next decade, this "discovery" was aggressively tested by several other tritium β -decay experiments. During this same period, the first measurements of the stellar velocity dispersion of dwarf spheroidal galaxies showed that these galaxies are highly dark matter dominated. The inferred dark matter density within the central regions of dwarf galaxies was used to place lower limits on the neutrino rest mass that were incompatible with the 30 eV neutrino dark matter candidate [28, 29]. Furthermore, numerical simulations of structure formation demonstrated that large-scale structure observations are incompatible with a universe dominated by hot dark matter in the form of neutrinos [30]. Similar stories can be told of stable heavy leptons and other dark matter candidates that have been excluded by cosmological and astrophysical measurements [31-33]. Cosmology has continually shown that the microscopic physics governing the fundamental nature of dark matter and the macroscopic distribution of dark matter are intimately intertwined.

The strong connection between cosmology, astrophysics, and particle physics serve as the motivation for the Dark Matter: Cosmic Probes Topical Group (CF3) within the Snowmass Cosmic Frontier. CF3 focuses on the use of cosmological techniques and astrophysical

observations to study the fundamental nature of dark matter over the full range of allowed dark matter masses. While many experimental studies of dark matter search for a previously undetected interactions between dark matter and Standard Model particles, CF3 also seeks to measure the behavior of dark matter ever more precisely in order to compare against the predictions of ACDM. Thus, some of the scientific approaches and experimental facilities proposed by CF3 overlap significantly with cosmological studies of dark energy and the early universe. CF3 discussions took place between November 2020 and July 2022 through a series of meetings that occurred on a roughly bi-weekly cadence. CF3 received 75 letters of intent,¹ which resulted in the coordinated submission of five solicited white papers:

- WP1 Dark matter physics from dark matter halo measurements [5].
- WP2 Cosmological simulations for dark matter physics [6].
- WP3 Primordial black hole dark matter [7].
- WP4 Dark matter in extreme astrophysical environments [8].
- WP5 Observational facilities to study dark matter physics [4].

These solicited white papers were complemented by six white papers that were contributed directly to CF3 [1-3, 9-11] and numerous related white papers that were contributed to other topical groups by the HEP community [e.g., 12, 24, 34–36]. Furthermore, we present three cases that highlight how cosmic probes can play a central role in identifying fundamental properties of dark matter and/or providing complementary information for designing search strategies in terrestrial experiments. This report summarizes nearly two years of community input, and its structure largely follows the CF3 solicited community white papers [4-8].

3.3 Dark Matter Halo Measurements

In the standard model of cosmic structure formation, dark matter in the late-time universe is clustered into gravitationally bound over-densities called halos. These halos provide sites for baryons to cool, collapse, and form galaxies. Astronomical observations show that dark matter halos are distributed according to a power-law mass spectrum extending from the scales of galaxy clusters ($\sim 10^{15} M_{\odot}$) to those of ultra-faint dwarf galaxies ($\sim 10^8 M_{\odot}$). In the prevailing CDM theory, dark matter is made of collisionless, cold particles or compact objects. The CDM theory does a good job of explaining the large-scale structure of the universe [46] and overall properties of galaxies [47, 48]. However, there are many reasons to believe that CDM is an approximation and that the dark sector is more complex and vibrant. From the theory perspective, CDM provides a parametric description of cosmic structure, but it is far from a complete theory. In CDM, the particle properties of dark matter, such as the mass, spin, interaction(s), and production mechanism(s), remain unspecified. In fact, many theoretical models describing the particle physics of dark matter predict that

¹https://snowmass21.org/cosmic/dm_probes



Figure 3-2. The dimensionless linear matter power spectrum extrapolated linearly to z = 0. Theoretical predictions are plotted for four models that suppress power: (1) ultralight axion "fuzzy" dark matter with a mass $m = 10^{-22}$ eV (magenta; [37]), (2) dark matter-baryon interactions with interaction cross section that scales with velocity as $\sigma_0 v^{-4}$ for $\sigma_0 = 10^{-22} \text{ cm}^2$ (blue; [38]), (3) thermal relic warm dark matter with a mass $m \sim 40 \text{ keV}$ (orange; [39]), (4) weakly interacting massive particle dark matter represented by a bino-like neutralino with a mass, $m \sim 100$ GeV (black; [40]). Also shown are four models that affect power on very small scales: (1) early matter domination assuming a reheat temperature of 10 MeV (green; [41]), (2) post-inflationary production of QCD axions dominated by the misalignment mechanism (pink; [42]), (3) vector dark matter produced during inflation assuming an inflationary scale of 10^{14} GeV and a DM mass of 10^{-6} eV (gold; [43]), and (4) post-inflationary production of axions dominated by strings (cyan; [44]). Note that the position of the power spectrum cutoff and/or enhancement depends on model parameters and is flexible for most cases shown here. Power spectrum measurements on large scales are compiled from [45]. Shaded vertical bands roughly indicate the characteristic kinds of halos formed on each scale, and the horizontal axes indicate wavenumber, halo mass, and the temperature of the Universe when that mode entered the horizon. Figure from [5].

the simplest CDM model breaks down at small physical scales [5]. On the observational side, CDM has faced long-standing challenges in explaining detailed measurements of dark matter distributions on galactic and sub-galactic scales [49, 50], where we are pushing the boundaries of both observations and numerical simulations. In the next decade, observations

of dark matter halos over a wide range of mass scales will provide unique opportunities to test the vast landscape of dark matter theories and potentially discover deviations from the predictions of CDM.

Using halo measurements to study dark matter physics has several advantages. First, there is a strong connection between dark matter halos and the physics of the early universe. The seeds of cosmological structure formation were established in the earliest moments after the Big Bang. As we measure the distribution of dark matter across a broad range of physical scales, we simultaneously learn about the initial conditions of the universe and probe periods of cosmic history that might be inaccessible by other means. Second, halo measurements are sensitive to a broad range of dark matter models. To date, all positive experimental evidence for the existence and properties of dark matter comes from astrophysical observations. Measurements of the abundance, density profiles, and spatial distribution of dark matter halos offer sensitivity to an enormous range of dark matter models, and are complementary to both terrestrial experiments and indirect searches for dark matter annihilation and decay products. Third, our understanding of how the fundamental properties of dark matter at a microscopic scale impact structure formation throughout cosmic history is rapidly advancing. Recently, there has been tremendous progress in modeling the formation and evolution of dark matter halos in the context of novel dark matter theories beyond CDM. There is enormous potential to further develop detailed phenomenology for a broader range of dark matter models, and to explore new regions of theory space with new and archival data. Thus, halo measurements provide a window into both dark matter physics and early universe cosmology. Fig. 3-2 illustrates these connections by showing the linear matter power spectrum predicted by several theoretical models of dark matter, together with the relevant scales of the halo mass and temperature of the universe when that mode entered the horizon. In Fig. 3-3, we show the complementarity between measurements of the matter power spectrum and dark matter halos and terrestrial direct detection searches in the context of the spin-independent dark matter–nucleon scattering cross section.

To further leverage halo measurements and extract fundamental properties of dark matter, we set the following observational milestones. First, precision measurements of galaxy-scale dark matter halos are critical. Current and near-future facilities will provide a detailed mapping between luminous galaxies and their invisible dark matter halos across 13 billion years of cosmic history and more than 8 orders of magnitude in dark matter halo mass $(10^{15} M_{\odot} \gtrsim M_{halo} \gtrsim 10^7 M_{\odot})$. Detailed measurements of halo abundances and density profiles across cosmic time will provide increasingly stringent tests of the CDM paradigm. Second, within the next decade, several observational techniques will become sensitive to dark matter halos at or below the minimum mass required to host stellar populations ($M_{halo} \lesssim$ $10^7 M_{\odot}$). Population studies of completely dark halos offer unique advantages to study the microphysical properties of dark matter because the evolution of these halos is less affected by baryonic physics. Many theoretical models of dark matter predict conspicuous deviations from CDM in low-mass halos. Third, a suite of innovative and ambitious observational techniques can be used to search for compact stellar- and planetary-mass-scale halos via their subtle gravitational effects $(M_{\text{halo}} \leq 10^2 M_{\odot})$. The discovery of such low-mass halos would immediately transform our understanding of both dark matter properties and the physics of the early universe.

These observational breakthroughs have the potential to revolutionize our understanding the nature of dark matter. For example, if a cored density profile is inferred in ultrafaint dwarf galaxies, where baryonic feedback is minimal, it will indicate that dark matter may have strong self-interactions or quantum wave features. In this case, combining the measurements of dark matter density profiles from ultra-faint dwarfs to clusters of galaxies, we may narrow down the mass of dark matter particle(s), as well as that of the dark mediator(s). Observations of dark matter halos below the galaxy formation threshold will put strong constraints on the "warmth" of dark matter and set upper limits on the interaction strength between dark matter and any warm species, including baryons or dark radiation, in the early universe. On the other hand, if such halos are not detected, it would imply a cutoff in the matter power spectrum and a radical deviation from CDM. Since a cutoff in the matter power spectrum could also reduce the abundance of Milky Way satellite galaxies and affect the Lyman-alpha forest, we could further confirm a departure from CDM with these complementary measurements. Numerical simulations are essential to understand baryonic systematics and to connect the Lagrangian parameters that describe a particle physics model for dark matter to halo observables. Simulations are the topic of the following section.

3.4 Cosmological Simulations of Dark Matter

Cosmological N-body simulations are essential to predict and interpret the imprints of fundamental dark matter physics on structure formation in the nonlinear regime. Properly modelling baryon physics associated with galaxy formation in these simulations is often a key step to distinguish effects of baryon physics from those of new dark matter physics. With enormous datasets expected from Rubin LSST and other forthcoming facilities, we are at the critical stage to develop techniques for efficient forward simulations in order to extract information about dark matter from the data. In what follows, we give a brief overview and propose a plan for building simulation program to interpret observations so that we can robustly search for novel signatures of dark matter microphysics across a large dynamic range of length scales and cosmic time [6].

Over the last 40 years, cosmological simulations have played a vitally important role in studying dark matter particle properties. They have been essential to the development of the CDM paradigm and to eliminating neutrinos as a dominant component of the dark matter. During the last decade, particle physicists and simulators have come together to generate cosmological predictions for a subset of novel dark matter scenarios beyond CDM



Figure 3-3. Cosmic probes of the matter power spectrum and dark matter halos set strong constraints on the minimum thermal dark matter particle mass [e.g., 51, 52] and spin-independent dark matter–nucleon scattering cross section [e.g., 53–59] (green regions). Projected improvements in sensitivity coming from future facilities and observations are indicated with a dashed green line, based on the estimate with a potential discovery of $10^5 M_{\odot}$ subhalos using Rubin LSST stream observations. Constraints from Big Bang nucleosynthesis [e.g., 60] and and cosmic rays upscattering dark matter in the XENON1T experiment [e.g., 61] are indicated in light green and are subject to additional model dependence. These constraints are highly complementary to constraints from direct detection experiments [as collected by 62, 63] (gray regions). The neutrino fog for xenon direct detection experiments is shown with dashed black line [64].

(e.g., Fig. 3-4 [65–67]). The challenge and opportunity for this decade is to develop a robust and vibrant simulation program that connects the ground-breaking capabilities of observational facilities [1–4, 68, 69] to an expanding landscape of particle models for dark matter and targeted terrestrial experiments [22]. Because a well-synthesized program of theory, simulation, observation, and experiment is critical to revealing the nature of dark matter, we identify six areas of focus for simulations that advance along the key opportunities described in Sec. 3.1.

First, increased collaboration between simulators and particle theorists will help identify significant dark matter models and areas of parameter space for further study. Model builders and observers both rely on simulations as a crucial link that draws their ideas and work together. This approach underpins the key opportunity of using cosmic probes to



Figure 3-4. Cosmological simulations play a critical role in informing the observational effects of dark matter particle physics. This image demonstrates the simulated distribution of dark matter around a Milky-Way-mass galaxy in three different models of dark matter: CDM (left), a 2 keV warm dark matter model (middle), and a self-interacting dark matter model with a cross section of $\sigma_{\text{SIDM}}/m_{\chi} = 1 \text{ cm}^2/\text{g}$ (right). The effects of some models are immediately obvious by eye (e.g., the middle panel), while others can be detected at high statistical significance with cosmic observations (e.g., the right panel). Figure adapted from [50].

understand fundamental properties of dark matter by mapping dark matter microphysics to astrophysical structure formation and observables associated with it. For example, knowing the scale on which structures are expected to be modified relative to CDM can enable simulators to efficiently target well-motivated regions of parameter space. In turn, targeted parameter space searches can help theorists focus their work on realistic model-building efforts. Guidance from theorists will be particularly valuable to rigorously develop initial conditions for simulations of specific dark matter models.

Second, it is important to advance algorithm development and develop code benchmarks to ensure that simulations meet the required precision targets set by the sensitivity of new facilities. Broadly speaking, there are four major classes of dark matter models that currently capture the attention of simulators: CDM, fuzzy dark matter, self-interacting dark matter, and warm dark matter. Each of these presents distinct challenges in numerical implementation, requiring benchmarks for validating simulations and ensuring that they achieve the necessary precision to successfully support dark matter inference. Key predictions include measurements of (sub)halo mass functions; (sub)halo density profiles; and subhalo radial distributions, infall times, and phase space distributions.

Third, it is critical to perform simulations with full hydrodynamics using validated subgrid models and numerical resolution at the relevant redshifts and cosmological scales. Understanding the role of baryonic physics at small scales is critically important, since key discrepancies between the predictions of CDM and alternative dark matter models



Measuring Dark Matter Physics using Cosmological Simulations

Need #1: Collaboration between simulators and particle theorists
Need #2: Algorithm development and code comparison tests
Need #3: Hydrodynamic simulations for observational targets
Need #4: Compare simulations to data in observable parameter space
Need #5: Fast realizations of observed systems to constrain dark matter
Need #6: Provide guidance to observers about dark matter signatures

Figure 3-5. An example flowchart for distinguishing cold and warm dark matter models in the context of dark matter halo substructure as observed in strong gravitational lens systems. This example highlights the need for collaborative efforts among particle physicists, simulators and observers, in order to harness the full power of new observational facilities to quantitatively test dark matter models. The two right columns show images of simulations and lensing observables assuming cold and warm dark matter models. From top to bottom: large-box numerical simulations of structure formation, simulated dark matter substructure within a galaxy halo, a possible realization of dark matter structure generated under the model, and a particular realization of dark matter structure generated under the model consistent with observations of the strong lens system WGDJ0405-3308. Figure adapted from [6]. COMMUNITY PLANNING EXERCISE: SNOWMASS 2021 occur at small scales where baryonic physics plays an important role [50]. Degeneracies between baryon physics and alternative dark matter models presents a challenge. Breaking these degeneracies requires full inclusion of baryonic physics in simulations and dedicated comparisons between validated simulations. Data from current and near-future facilities will usher in the discovery of many new types of systems with the potential to provide better sensitivity to dark matter physics, should support be provided for that specific scientific goal.

Fourth, we will benefit significantly from the analysis of simulation outputs in the realm of observations. Forward modeling simulations into the space of observables enables applesto-apples comparisons between models and data. Such investigations are necessary to fully prepare for and utilize unprecedented datasets from DESI, Rubin LSST, CMB-S4, and other forthcoming instruments. Rigorous comparisons between theory and observation, as well as tools that translate theoretical predictions to observable parameter spaces will continue to be essential. These comparisons will help us determine when a problem arises from numerical techniques and when it is a true physical problem. As data analysis pipelines and simulations become more elaborate – and datasets become larger – strengthening our capacity to disentangle numerical effects from physical phenomena will be of critical importance. Furthermore, translating simulations into observable parameter spaces will assist in designing and evaluating new facilities.

Fifth, we need fast realizations of observables to infer dark matter properties from observation on feasible timescales. Cosmological simulations with full hydrodynamics are a critical tool to reveal how the physical properties of dark matter alter the abundance and internal structure of dark matter halos and subhalos, which can result in observable differences in astronomical objects and systems. These simulations produce "mock universes" that allow us to compare theoretical prediction with observations in the space of observables. As such, running these simulations will become the bottleneck of parameter inference and model comparison, because these tasks typically require the generation of a large sample of simulated datasets covering different input parameters (dark matter properties in this case). Multiple methods have been identified to address these challenges [6]. They broadly fall into the categories of (1) reducing the computational cost of individual simulations by swapping some simulation components with models, and (2) reducing the number of simulations needed for analyses. We will likely need to combine these approaches to cover the vast space of untested dark matter theories and the diversity of observational measurements. These efforts will benefit from the introduction of machine learning and artificial intelligence techniques that are described later in this chapter.

Finally, numerical simulations and fast realizations should inform observers and experimentalists where to look for new signatures of dark matter physics. Simulations can play a major role in motivating new observational strategies by revealing unforeseen signatures of, and affirming analytic predictions for, dark matter physics. One example of this dynamic in operation is the development of an accurate model for the dark matter distribution in our Milky Way galaxy. Understanding the local density and velocity distribution of dark matter is key to properly design terrestrial direct detection experiments. Furthermore, in the event that a positive signal is detected in a terrestrial experiment, we need to interpret that signal in an astrophysical context and confirm whether it is consistent with what cosmic constraints on dark matter. Another example is the identification of dark matter (sub)halos that do not contain baryons, as predicted by CDM. Simulations can inform observational strategies to characterize phenomena that are potentially entirely sourced by non-luminous objects.

In Fig. 3-5, we show an example flowchart for distinguishing cold and warm dark matter models using strong gravitational lens systems with the collaborative efforts from the six areas discussed above. With upcoming observational and experimental facilitates, the next decade will be transformative in the HEP community's ability to learn about dark matter in the sky and in the lab. Numerical simulations of structure formation are a bridge between theory and observation. A close collaboration among simulators, particle physicists, and observers is essential to interpret observational data, break degeneracies between baryon physics and dark matter physics, and reveal the microscopic nature of dark matter. Only with a vibrant and cohesive simulation program will we be able to leverage the full power and precision of cosmic probes of dark matter.

3.5 Primordial Black Holes and the Early Universe

As potentially the first density perturbations to collapse, primordial black holes may be our earliest window into the birth of the universe and energies between the QCD phase transition and the Planck scale. The corresponding length scales $(k = 10^7 - 10^{19} h \,\mathrm{Mpc}^{-1})$ are much smaller than those measured by other current and future cosmological probes, see Fig. 3-2. While previous estimates suggested that primordial black holes were constrained to be a subdominant component of dark matter over much of the viable mass range, more recent analyses have relaxed many of these constraints, re-opening the possibility that, in certain mass ranges, primordial black holes may comprise a dominant component of dark matter, as shown in Fig. 3-6.

The detection of primordial black holes would change our understanding of the fundamental physics of the early universe and the composition of dark matter [7, 12]. Primordial black holes are a probe of primordial density fluctuations in a range that is inaccessible to other techniques. These curvature fluctuations are imprinted on space-time hypersurfaces during inflation, at extremely high energies, beyond those currently accessible by terrestrial and cosmic accelerators. Our understanding of the universe at these high energies ($\geq 10^{15} \text{ GeV}$) comes predominantly from extrapolations of known physics at the electroweak scale. Measurements of the primordial density fluctuations via the abundance of primordial black holes would provide unique insights into physics at these very high energy scales.



Figure 3-6. Constraints on the dark matter fraction comprised of primordial black holes of a given mass. Constraints derived with more and less conservative assumptions are shown in dark and light green, respectively. Projected sensitivity for future cosmic probes are shown with green dashed lines. Existing constraints come from the gamma-ray background [70], microlensing observations of M31 with HSC [71, 72], microlensing observations of the Milky Way with MACHO/EROS [73–75], supernovae lensing [76], dynamical heating of dwarf galaxies [77–81], wide binary stars [82, 83], X-ray binaries [84], CMB distortions from accreting plasma in early universe [85, 86], and disk stability constraints [87]. Dashed lines show the projected sensitivity of a Rubin LSST microlensing survey of the Galactic Bulge [19], a dedicated Roman microlensing survey of M31, and a future MeV gamma-ray facility [88, 89]. Figure adapted from [7, 19].

This significant reward motivates the development of several complementary techniques that are sensitive to primordial black holes and subject to different astrophysical systematics, such as gravitational microlensing, gravitational wave detection, and gamma-ray signatures of black hole evaporation. In many cases, the science of primordial black holes can be performed by facilities that have well-motivated and multi-faceted scientific programs, e.g., optical/near-infrared time-domain imaging surveys, gravitational wave detectors, precision astrometry from radio interferometry, future MeV–TeV energy gamma-ray facilities. That said, realizing primordial black hole science from these facilities often requires specialized observing schemes, dedicated data analysis, and devoted theoretical studies. Therefore, it is important to closely integrate scientific efforts with enabling facilities across the scientific funding agencies (DOE, NASA, NSF).

Current and near-future observations can provide unprecedented sensitivity to the search for primordial black holes. However, it is necessary to ensure that these facilities acquire their data with a cadence and sky coverage that enables the searches [19, 90, 91]. In addition, the sensitivity of the searches will be maximized by combining datasets from multiple observational facilities. Development of joint processing and analyses of Rubin LSST, the Nancy Grace Roman Space Telescope (*Roman*), and Euclid will maximize the opportunity to detect primordial black holes. Furthermore, current and future gravitational wave facilities will provide an unparalleled opportunity to detect primordial black holes directly through gravity. These facilities include both ground-based detectors, such as LIGO and Cosmic Explorer, and space-based detectors, such as LISA and AEDGE [e.g., 92].

The scale of current and near-future datasets and the complexity of analyses benefit from collaborative scientific teams. These teams will develop the tools to perform rigorous and sensitive searches for primordial black holes in current and near-future observational data. The computational challenges presented by these searches are well-matched to the capabilities of HEP scientists and facilities. In addition, theoretical studies will help us better understand the production mechanisms, clustering, and spin properties of primordial black holes. These characteristics will inform the expected abundance of black hole microlensing and gravitational-wave events and systematics with cosmic surveys, as well as the connections to primordial black holes and of specific accretion rates will help inform observational constraints.

3.6 Dark Matter in Extreme Astrophysical Environments

Astro-particle searches for dark matter have historically focused on measuring cosmic-ray or photon products from the annihilation or decay of dark matter particles. However, dark matter interactions could also alter the physical processes occurring in the interiors of stars or stellar remnants, the dynamics of black holes, or the mergers of compact objects. These alterations would imprint characteristic signals in electromagnetic and gravitational wave observations. Exploring dark matter via observations of these extreme astrophysical environments—defined here as heavy compact objects such as white dwarfs, neutron stars, and black holes, as well as supernovae and compact object merger events—has been a major field of growth since the last Snowmass study. In the coming decade, observations of extreme astrophysical targets have the potential to open sensitivity to novel dark matter parameter space across a broad mass range (Fig. 3-7) [8]. Exploiting these opportunities relies on both advances in theoretical work and on current and near-future observatories, including both gravitational-wave instruments and instruments spanning the full electromagnetic spectrum, from radio to gamma-rays. To help guide the discussion on the search in extreme astrophys-



Figure 3-7. A wide array of observations of extreme astrophysical environments have sensitivity to novel dark matter properties over ~ 50 orders of magnitude in dark matter particle mass. Figure adapted from [8].

ical environments, we organize these searches by the dark matter mass range that is probed: ultralight dark matter (< 1 keV), light dark matter (keV–MeV), and heavy dark matter (\gtrsim GeV). Despite this categorization, we emphasize that many of these probes overlap in mass range, as summarized in Fig. 3-7. In addition, we note that the parameter space of the dark matter that is probed does not always saturate the relic abundance; instead, dark matter is broadly defined as matter that does not interact appreciably with Standard Model matter.

Extreme astrophysical environments provide unique opportunities to probe ultralight dark matter (< 1 keV). Ultralight particles can be produced in the hot, dense cores of stars and stellar remnants and affect their evolution. Ultralight dark matter—either ambient in the environment or produced in a neutron star—can convert in the high magnetic field environment of the neutron star into radio waves or X-rays that could be detected by telescopes. In the last decade, new ideas unique to bosonic dark matter have been developed. Specific models of ultralight dark matter can alter the shape of the gravitational waveforms of merging neutron stars through their coupling to the dense neutron star matter. Black hole superradiance is a process that can extract energy and angular momentum from rotating black holes and place it into bound states of exponentially large numbers of ultralight bosons, as long as the Compton wavelength of the particle is comparable to the size of black holes. These systems yield signals of coherent gravitational waves as well as black hole spin down,

which do not depend on particle interactions but only on gravity. Finally, ultralight dark matter can form collapsed structures like compact halos and boson stars that could be detected using gravitational waves, microlensing, or electromagnetic signals.

Opportunities to probe light dark matter (keV–MeV) exist from a variety of astrophysical situations: supernova explosions, the properties of neutron stars, binary neutron star mergers, and black hole population statistics (measured with gravitational waves from binary inspirals). Key observational targets for dark matter in this mass range include observation of gamma rays, neutrinos, and the populations of neutron stars and black holes as observed electromagnetically and via gravitational waves. Light dark matter produced in core collapse supernovae can be constrained from limits of their supernova cooling, or lead to visible signals in the X-ray or gamma-ray bands. During a binary neutron star merger, dark matter can lead to a bright transient gamma-ray signal. In the cores of blue supergiants, dark matter can affect stellar evolution, ultimately changing black hole population properties including the location of the black hole mass gap. Dark matter scattering and annihilating in exoplanets, brown dwarfs, Population III stars, and stellar remnants can be probed through infrared and optical radiation, and through gamma rays. Neutron stars can be heated by light dark matter via the Auger effect, which is probed by telescopes in the ultraviolet, optical and infrared ranges of the electromagnetic spectrum. Lastly, accumulation of dark matter (in particular bosonic light dark matter) can lead to the collapse of astrophysical objects. Most of the signals arise from couplings to Standard Model photons and fermions. As an example, in Fig. 3-8 we show the complementarity between cosmic probes of light and ultra-light dark matter and terrestrial helioscope and haloscope in the context of searches for the signatures of axion-like particles.

Compact astrophysical objects such as neutron stars and black holes provide unique environments to test heavy dark matter (> GeV). Dark matter captured by neutron stars and their subsequent heating can be observed by upcoming infrared and radio telescopes. Dark matter that is produced in neutron stars may collect in the interior or form neutron star halos, with implications for the equation of state, mass-radius relation, and gravitational wave signals. Moreover, dark matter can collect in high-density spikes around black holes enhancing annihilation rates. A black hole–compact object binary can form a dark matter spike that can be observed by future space-based gravitational wave observatories. Merging compact objects can also give insight into a wide variety of dark sector particles that modify the dynamics of the merger process. This includes fifth forces and modifications to gravity. Finally, sufficient accumulation of dark matter around a compact object can cause the dark matter particles themselves to collapse into a black hole. Upcoming pulsar searches and gravitational wave observatories will be sensitive to this kind of dark matter signature.

The coming decade presents a key opportunity to maximize the sensitivity of observations to novel dark matter theory space. Observational and theoretical astrophysicists should collaborate to constrain the standard astrophysical properties of these extreme environments.



Figure 3-8. Cosmic probes of extreme astrophysical environments [93-98] combined with measurements of dark matter halos [52, 99] and other cosmological observations [100-103] set strong constraints on the parameter space of axion-like particles (green regions). Projected improvements in sensitivity coming from future facilities and observations are indicated with a dashed green line. Cosmic probes are sensitive well-motivated regions for the QCD axion [104-107] and axion-like particles [108], and they are highly complementary to other experimental searches with helioscopes and haloscopes (gray regions taken from [109]). This figure uses limit data available from [110].

We need coordination between the experimental collaborations responsible for upcoming major observatories across all astrophysical messengers: gravitational waves, neutrinos and electromagnetic radiation at all wavelengths. Theoretical developments will improve our understanding of the signatures of dark matter in extreme environments, which will in turn help optimize the design and data taking strategies of future instruments.

3.7 Facilities for Cosmic Probes of Dark Matter

Over the next decade, observational facilities spanning the electromagnetic spectrum, as well as gravitational waves, offer the potential to significantly expand our understanding of dark matter physics. In this section, we briefly discuss current and near-future facilities that are aligned with the HEP Cosmic Frontier program and offer the opportunity to greatly enhance our understanding of dark matter physics. In many cases, these facilities have multi-faceted scientific portfolios that include sensitivity to dark energy, inflation, neutrino physics, and modifications to gravity. Furthermore, the technology used in these facilities leverages the core technical and scientific capabilities of the HEP community. Strong involvement from the HEP community will maximize the scientific output of these facilities, and in many cases, HEP involvement is necessary for the construction and/or operation of these facilities. The capability to probe dark matter physics should be considered in the design phase of these new facilities.

The discussion in this section focuses on a series of facilities-oriented white papers submitted to CF3 as part of the Snowmass process [1-4, 11]. We note that the facilities described here complement other multi-messenger facilities [111], gamma-ray and X-ray experiments [112, 113], and gravitational wave facilities [92] submitted to other topical groups in the Snowmass process.

3.7.1 Current/Near-Future Facilities

Dark Energy Spectroscopic Instrument

The Dark Energy Spectroscopic Instrument (DESI) began regular operations in 2021 and is currently performing one of the most powerful wide-field spectroscopic surveys [78, 114]. The synergy between DESI and other current and near-future observing facilities will yield datasets of unprecedented size and quality, with sensitivity to dark matter physics over a wide range of scales and redshifts. DESI will detect four times as many Lyman- α quasars as were observed in the largest previous survey, yielding about 1 million medium-resolution spectra. Observations of these spectra will constrain the formation of dark matter halos through measurements of the clustering of low-density intergalactic gas out to $z \sim 5$. Measurements of stellar radial velocities from DESI in conjunction with astrometry from Gaia (and eventually *Roman*) will enable us to constrain the global distribution of dark matter within the Milky Way, its dwarf satellites, and stellar streams. However, suites of numerical simulations of non-CDM cosmologies are needed to interpret observations from DESI in the context of fundamental dark matter physics. Such simulations must be transformed into realistic mock datasets that account for observational selection effects. The creation of these mock datasets is a significant investment that could heavily leverage HEP infrastructure that is already integrated into the DESI Collaboration [1]. The proposed DESI-II [115, 116] would extend the science capabilities of DESI through an extended operational period.

Vera C. Rubin Observatory

The Rubin Observatory Legacy Survey of Space and Time (LSST), which is scheduled to start in 2024, has the potential to become a flagship dark matter experiment [18]. LSST will probe dark matter through a wide suite of observations including measurements of Milky Way satellites, stellar streams, galaxy clusters, weak lensing, microlensing searches for primordial black holes, and studies of stellar populations and stellar remnants [2, 19, 117]. Due to the size and complexity of the Rubin LSST dataset and the need for devoted, high-resolution numerical simulations, a coordinated effort is required to perform rigorous dark matter analyses. A large collaborative team of scientists with the necessary organizational and funding support is needed to lead this effort. Furthermore, studies of dark matter with Rubin LSST will also guide the design of, and confirm the results from, other dark matter experiments. Transforming Rubin LSST into a dark matter experiment is key to achieving the dark matter science goals that have been identified as a high priority by the HEP community [2].

CMB-S4

CMB-S4 is a ground-based experiment that will perform exquisite measurements of the CMB temperature and polarization anisotropies [21, 23]. These measurements (on their own and in combination with other surveys) will provide new means to probe the nature of dark matter. These measurements will provide a snapshot of the universe as it was around the time of recombination, and they will also reveal the imprints of structure growth at much later times. Gravitational lensing of the CMB leads to characteristic distortions of the primary CMB maps [118], allowing us to statistically reconstruct maps of the integrated line-ofsight density. Scattering of CMB photons in galaxy clusters (the Sunyaev-Zel'dovich effect) [119, 120] allows for the identification of the most massive bound structures in the universe out to very high redshifts. Cosmological measurements in general, and CMB measurements in particular, provide insights into dark matter physics that are complementary to direct, indirect, and collider searches for dark matter. Cosmological observables are impacted by the influence of dark matter on the entire cosmic history. Dark matter constraints derived from cosmology do not rely on assumptions about the dark matter density in the neighborhood of the Earth or of any specific astrophysical object. Furthermore, CMB observations are sensitive to regions of parameter space that are out of reach of current direct searches. Several aspects of the dark matter program are already included among the CMB-S4 core science cases; however, support must be provided to achieve these science goals [3].

3.7.2 Future Facilities

Here we briefly describe the landscape of proposed future facilities, starting with those probing the most energetic photons and moving to those with lower energies, and concluding with gravitational wave detectors. While these facilities are synergistic with a broad range of scientific objectives, strong support from the HEP community is necessary to enable the design, construction, and operation of these facilities.

X-ray/Gamma-ray Facilities

Instruments operating at X-ray and gamma-ray energies have been indispensable for the

indirect dark matter detection and multi-messenger communities [111–113]. While indirect detection is discussed elsewhere, these experiments also provide an important test of PBH evaporation and dark matter in extreme astrophysical environments. In particular MeV-scale γ -ray experiments like AMEGO-X [121] and GECCO [122] are important for probing PBH evaporation, while X-ray experiments like XRISM [123], Athena [124], and proposed facilities such as STROBE-X [125] are important for probing the physics of extreme environments around neutron stars and black holes.

Optical/Near-Infrared Facilities

Optical/near-infrared telescopes have been the work-horse for dark matter studies on galactic scales. Proposed near-future optical/near-infrared facilities include a Stage-V Spectroscopic Facility (Spec-S5) [126, 127] and the US Extremely Large Telescope program (US-ELT) [128]. Both facility classes plan to target stars in the Milky Way halo, stellar streams, and dwarf galaxies, as well as dark matter-dominated galaxies in the local universe, strong lens systems, and galaxy clusters at higher redshift [4]. A Spec-S5 would combine a large telescope aperture, wide field of view, and high multiplexing, enabling it to obtain medium-to high-resolution spectra of millions of stars while simultaneously providing information on tens of millions of higher-redshift objects distributed over wide areas of sky [129]. Proposed concepts for a Spec-S5 include MegaMapper [116, 130], the Maunakea Spectroscopic Explorer (MSE) [131], and the ESO SpecTel concept [132]. In contrast, the US ELTs, including the Giant Magellan Telescope (GMT) [133] and the Thirty Meter Telescope (TMT) [134], will provide unprecedented sensitivity, image resolution, astrometry, and extreme precision radial velocity observations, but with much smaller fields of view and multiplexing than a Spec-S5.

In all cases, these facilities seek to use a variety of methods to extend measurements of the dark matter halo mass function below the threshold of galaxy formation $(10^6 - 10^8 M_{\odot})$ and to measure the density profiles of dark matter halos both in the local universe (e.g., for our Milky Way, its satellites, and other nearby galaxies) and at higher redshifts (e.g., strong lens systems and galaxy clusters). Measurements of the dark matter halo mass function and density profiles can be translated into sensitivity to the dark matter particle mass and interaction cross-sections. Additionally, these facilities provide multi-faceted fundamental physics programs that include measurements of dark energy and inflation [126, 129]. They would leverage HEP technology developed for Stage III and Stage IV dark energy experiments (DES, DESI, Rubin LSST) and advance technology toward a Stage V dark energy experiment [129]. HEP technical expertise is well-matched to the design and construction of fiber positioners, CCD detectors, and spectrographs. Furthermore, HEP computational resources and expertise are well matched to the task of data processing and distribution. These experiments have strong support from the astronomy community; however, HEP support will be critical to enable their construction and to ensure that they maximize fundamental physics output.

Microwave Facilities

The proposed millimeter-wavelength facility CMB-HD [135] will extend the resolution of cosmic microwave background surveys by a factor of five and the sensitivity by a factor of three or more. These observations will open a new window of small-scale CMB observations and will uniquely enable measurements of the small-scale matter power spectrum (scales of $k \sim 10 h \,\mathrm{Mpc}^{-1}$) from weak gravitational lensing using the CMB as a backlight. These observations will also enable measurements that rule out or detect any new light particle species ($N_{\rm eff}$) that were in thermal equilibrium with the Standard Model at any time in the early Universe [36], and enable probes of axion-like particles through CMB photon conversion, time-dependent CMB polarization rotation, cosmic birefringence, and ultra-high-resolution kinetic Sunyaev-Zel'dovich measurements. CMB-HD would leverage and extend the scientific and technical investment of HEP in CMB-S4.

Radio Facilities

Proposed centimeter-wavelength radio observatories, including the ngVLA [136] and DSA-2000 [137], can employ pulsar timing measurements to map the dark matter halo of the Milky Way and the substructures it contains. These experiments could complement other gravitational wave facilities at higher frequency. Proposed low-frequency radio experiments, such as LuSEE Night [11, 138], PUMA [139], and successors to HERA [140] can use the 21-cm line of hydrogen from the Dark Ages ($z \sim 50$) through cosmic dawn and reionization ($z \sim 6$) to probe dark matter physics via the thermal history of intergalactic gas and the timing of the formation of the first stars and galaxies. These facilities would have complementary programs to probe dark energy (measuring the expansion history and growth of the universe up to z = 6) and the physics of inflation (constraining primordial non-Gaussianity and primordial features).

Gravitational Wave Facilities

Proposed gravitational wave facilities, such as Cosmic Explorer and LIGO-Voyager, can probe dark matter directly through gravity [92]. These experiments are sensitive to channels including the detection of axion-like particles in binary neutron star mergers, ultralight bosons through superradiant instabilities of rotating black holes, the identification of boson stars in compact binaries, dark matter density spikes around black holes, and the existence of sub-solar-mass primordial black holes.

3.8 Tools for Cosmic Probes of Dark Matter Physics

Collaborative Infrastructure

Historically, many cosmic probes of dark matter physics have been pursued by small groups of scientists. However, as the scale and complexity of cosmic survey experiments increase, the need for numerical simulations to interpret data grow, and the range of possible dark

matter models expands, it becomes difficult to find sufficient expertise within a small group of scientists. Similar challenges have been faced by the dark energy community, which has motivated the formation of large collaborative efforts to build and analyze data from new facilities. These collaborations bring together the efforts of university groups, international collaborators, and scientists at national laboratories to accomplish scientific tasks that are too large for any single investigator. Modern efforts to assemble collaborative teams to study cosmic probes of dark matter physics have already started in the context of the Dark Energy Survey [141] and the Rubin LSST Dark Energy Science Collaboration [2]. In many cases, these teams can reside within existing collaborative infrastructure that has been established for other HEP mission goals. However, additional support must be provided to enable dark matter as a parallel branch of fundamental physics being pursued by these experiments.

New Support Mechanisms

Cosmic probes of dark matter provide a rich, diverse, and interdisciplinary area of research. While this leads to an exciting discovery space, it also leads to logistical difficulties in classifying the research within the existing research support structures (i.e., DOE HEP, NSF-PHY, NSF-AST, and NASA). In particular, support for cosmic probes of fundamental dark matter properties often falls in the cracks between these disciplines and agencies. This has been especially challenging for theoretical research in this domain, which has been increasingly been difficult to fund. We recommend that inter-agency coordination is required to assure that cosmic probes of dark matter physics are firmly supported. Multi-agency support extending across the spectrum of theory, simulation, and experiment will enable large gains in the coming decade.

Artificial Intelligence/Machine Learning

The interplay between models and observations is a cornerstone of the scientific method, aiming to inform which theoretical models are reflected in the observed data. Within cosmology, as both models and observations have substantially increased in complexity over time, the tools needed to enable a rigorous comparison have required updating as well. In the next decade, vast data volumes will be delivered by ongoing and upcoming cosmology experiments, as well as the ever-expanding theoretical search space. We are now at a crucial juncture where we may be limited by the statistical and data-driven tools themselves rather than the quality or volume of the available data. Methods based on artificial intelligence and machine learning have recently emerged as promising tools for cosmological applications, demonstrating the ability to overcome some of the computational bottlenecks associated with traditional statistical techniques. Machine learning is starting to see increased adoption across different sub-fields of and for various applications within cosmology. At the same time, the nascent and emergent nature of practical artificial intelligence motivates careful continued development and significant care when it comes to their application in the sciences, as well as cognizance of their potential for broader societal impact [9].

Cosmology Data Preservation

Cosmology datasets and simulations have useful lifetimes that extend long beyond the operational period of individual projects. As datasets from facilities and simulations grow in size, the "take out" model of manual download followed by local computation will become insufficient and unwieldy. Future work needs to focus on co-locating data with computing, and automating the coordination between multiple data/compute centers. Furthermore, special attention should be paid toward facilitating the joint analysis of datasets beyond the lifetime of individual projects. Implementing a comprehensive data preservation system will require support not only for hardware, but also for personnel to develop and maintain the technologies to simplify cross-site data sharing and personnel to curate the relevant datasets. The authors of [34] recommend that the HEP community support a new cosmology data archive center to coordinate this work across multiple HEP computing facilities.

3.9 Roads to New Physics

Cosmic probes of dark matter present exciting opportunities with powerful synergies to other dark matter search techniques, namely ground-based direct and indirect detection facilities. In this section, we consider three exemplar scenarios where astrophysical observations lead to the characterization of fundamental dark matter properties, and discuss their implications for revealing the particle nature of dark matter and understanding early-universe cosmology. In particular, we highlight how astrophysical observations, terrestrial experiments, and theoretical modelling can work together to extract fundamental parameters of dark matter.

3.9.1 Warm and Self-Interacting Dark Matter

We first consider a scenario where dark matter differs from the standard CDM model by having a warm thermal velocity distribution and an appreciable self-interaction cross section. The matter power spectrum of warm dark matter is suppressed compared to CDM, resulting in a reduction in the number and the central density of low-mass dark matter halos. For thermal warm dark matter, the power spectrum is completely determined by the dark matter particle mass, $m_{\rm WDM}$ [50]. The observed population of satellite dwarf galaxies of the Milky Way can be used to measure $m_{\rm WDM}$ if such a suppression is observed. Furthermore, dark matter self-interactions can thermalize the inner regions of dark matter halos and change the dark matter density profile. Thus, the self-interaction cross section per unit mass, $\sigma_{\rm SIDM}/m_{\chi}$, can be inferred from measurements of stellar velocities of galaxies, which are sensitive to the central dark matter content.

Fig. 3-9 demonstrates the ability of Rubin LSST combined with a future spectroscopic survey to measure the particle properties of dark matter from observations of Milky Way



Figure 3-9. Potential measurements of the self-interacting cross section and warm dark matter mass from upcoming observations by the Rubin Observatory and a future Stage-V Spectroscopic Facility (e.g., MSE [131] or MegaMapper [116, 130]). The projection assumes a dark matter model with a cross section of $\sigma_{\text{SIDM}}/m_{\chi} = 2 \text{ cm}^2/\text{g}$ and a suppressed matter power spectrum corresponding to a warm dark matter mass of $m_{\text{WDM}} = 6 \text{ keV}$ (red asterisk). The uncertainties contours are created by following a procedure similar to [142]. Figure adapted from [19].

satellite galaxies, adapted from [19]. This projection assumes a self-interaction cross section of $\sigma_{\text{SIDM}}/m_{\chi} = 2 \text{ cm}^2/\text{g}$ and a matter power spectrum corresponding to thermal warm dark matter with $m_{\text{WDM}} = 6$ keV; see [19] for details.² The projection should be regarded as an illustration of the capability of future facilities to *measure* fundamental dark matter particle properties using observations of the cosmic distribution of dark matter. This measurement does *not* assume that dark matter couples to the Standard Model. Furthermore, we can break degeneracies between dark matter particle properties and the physics of galaxy formation (e.g., the long tail towards large dark matter mass) by combining satellite galaxy

²More recent studies show that a larger cross section on dwarf scales may be needed to fully explain diverse dark matter densities of the Milky Way satellite galaxies in self-interacting dark matter models [143–149]. In this case, dark matter (sub)halos with a high concentration can experience gravothermal collapse, resulting in a high inner density, which can be probed using strong lensing observations with Rubin LSST, see, e.g., [150–154] for relevant discussion.

measurements with a probe that is independent of subhalo luminosity, such as strong lensing and stellar streams, ultimately resulting in closed contours at high statistical significance.

Astrophysical observations can provide precision measurements of interactions in the dark sector. To achieve this goal, a collaborative effort is crucial. First, after Rubin LSST discovers new satellite galaxies, spectroscopic followup measurements of their stellar velocity dispersion are needed to constrain the dark matter density. Second, with the population of newlydiscovered satellites, it will be possible to update models that capture the connection between invisible subhalos and visible galaxies to better control baryonic uncertainties. Third, dedicated N-body simulations are needed to make concrete predictions of self-interacting and warm dark matter models in terms of the properties of subhalos, such as their mass function, orbital parameters and central density. Fourth, in order to implement the novel dark matter properties in the simulations and interpret the observational results, we need to use the methods of particle physics to calculate the self-interaction cross section and determine how it depends on the velocity and scattering angle, as well as the linear matter power spectrum that encodes the evolution of the dark matter candidate in the early universe. Last but not the least, we will make predictions for observables on different galactic systems, such as density profiles in isolated dwarf galaxies and substructures of galaxy clusters, and search for signatures of new physics beyond CDM in these systems.

The possibility that dark matter has strong self-interactions indicates that there is a light mass scale $\mathcal{O}(1)$ MeV in the dark sector, which is much below the weak scale. Such a light dark sector motivates dedicated searches in upcoming and proposed terrestrial experiments in the intensity frontier, such as FASER [155] and LDMX [156]; see [157] for an overview of relevant experiments and facilities. It is also natural to expect that the light dark sector contains relativistic degrees of freedom [158, 159], i.e., dark radiation, which can be probed in CMB-S4 [20]. In addition, after combining observations from dwarf to cluster scales, spanning from ~ 10⁸ M_{\odot} to $10^{15} M_{\odot}$, we may determine masses of dark matter and mediator particles [160]. The discovery of a large self-interaction cross section and a cut-off in the matter power spectrum will have profound implications for constructing particle theories of dark matter and understanding its evolutionary history in the early universe, see [49, 69, 158, 161] for related discussion.

3.9.2 Primordial Black Holes

Next, we consider the discovery of primordial black holes, a realization of compact object dark matter. Primordial black holes represent a gravitational dark matter candidate that cannot be produced in terrestrial experiments and can only be detected and studied observationally. Much of the primordial black hole dark matter parameter space has been constrained by existing observations [e.g., 70], but windows still remain where primordial black holes can



Figure 3-10. Projected sensitivity of Rubin LSST to primordial black holes that make up a subdominant fraction of the dark matter (black circles). This figure assumes a log-normal mass function that provides an integrated contribution of 3% of the dark matter [162]. Fractional uncertainties on the projected measurements are estimated from the Poisson uncertainties on the predicted number of microlensing events that would be observed by Rubin LSST. Current (green regions) and future (dashed green) constraints on compact object dark matter come from Fig. 3-6.

make up some or all of the dark matter, see Fig. 3-6. Even if primordial black holes make up a subdominant component of the dark matter, their existence would revolutionize our understanding of early universe physics at extreme temperatures that are inaccessible to laboratory experiments [7].

Rubin LSST provides an exciting opportunity to directly measure the mass function of compact objects through microlensing observations. If scheduled optimally, LSST will provide sensitivity to microlensing event rates corresponding to 10^{-4} of the dark matter density in compact objects with masses $\geq 0.1 \,\mathrm{M}_{\odot}$, a factor 10^2-10^3 improvement compared to the existing limits. In addition, the *Roman Space Telescope* also provides microlensing opportunities in the search for primordial black holes in the next decade. As a high resolution space-based imaging system, *Roman* has the potential to detect or constrain primordial black holes through various types of lensing.

Fig. 3-10 shows discovery potential for primordial black holes making up a subdominant component of the dark matter. We follow the prescription of Carr et al. 2017 [162] and model the normalized primordial black hole mass function with a log-normal distribution (see their Eq. 3). We set the parameters of our mass function to be consistent with existing

observational constraints [162], choosing a peak mass of $M_c = 30 \,\mathrm{M}_{\odot}$, a width of $\sigma = 1$, and an integrated contribution to the dark matter density of $f_{\rm PBH} = 0.03$ (3%). We bin into logarithmic mass bins with width of 0.33 dex and calculated the integrated contribution to the dark matter abundance and the expected number of microlensing events that would be observed by LSST using the projected sensitivity [19].³ We assign uncertainties on the measured compact object fraction from the fractional Poisson uncertainties on the number of observed events. Rubin LSST will be sensitive to the existence of this primordial black hole population with high confidence; however, this analysis does not include contamination from astrophysical black holes, which is expected to be small at these high masses [19, 164].

The detection of primordial black holes by Rubin LSST and/or *Roman* would provide insights into early universe cosmology. Primordial black holes could form at early times from the direct gravitational collapse of large density perturbations that originated during inflation. The same fluctuations that initialize seeds of galaxies, if boosted on small scales, can lead to some small areas having a Schwarzschild mass within the horizon, which collapse to form black holes. Thus the detection of primordial black holes would directly constrain the amplitude of density fluctuations. These constraints probe small scales between $k = 10^7 - 10^{19}$ h/Mpc, much smaller than those measured by other current and future probes.

3.9.3 Axions and Axion-like Particles

Interest in axion and axion-like particles as potential dark matter candidates has increased significantly since the last Snowmass study [24, 109, 165]. The diversity of terrestrial axion experiments has increased dramatically during this time period [109]. Current experiments now probe the QCD axion model space in the μ eV mass range [166–168], and future experiments are poised to extend sensitivity to higher and lower masses [109]. Meanwhile, the expanding theoretical landscape of axion-like particle models makes it increasingly important to understand the cosmological implications of these models and their detectable signatures in the cosmos. For example, a thermal population of sub-eV mass axions would leave a cosmological imprint that could be detected through measurements of $N_{\rm eff}$ [36].

Cosmic probes provide important complementary information in the search for QCD axions and axion-like particles. In particular, a detailed understanding of the local dark matter distribution is important for both designing terrestrial search strategies and interpreting any positive experimental results from those searches [169]. For example, many terrestrial cavity experiments search for a distinct, narrow feature coming from axion conversion into photons [109]. The width of the axion feature depends on the velocity dispersion of dark matter in the Milky Way, and more precisely, the Solar neighborhood. Thus, precision cosmic

³This width of our mass bins is roughly comparable to the mass uncertainty reported for the recent detection of a microlensing event [163].

measurements of the local dark matter velocity and density distributions are an important guide when planning future searches for axions and axion-like particles.

The existence of dynamically cold dark matter substructure within the Solar System can change the signal strength and temporal modulation behavior in dark matter direct detection [170, 171]. In addition, gravitational focusing of dark matter streams by the Sun, Moon and Earth can affect the phase-space distribution of local dark matter particles [172–174] and have an impact on direct detection signals accordingly. Many current studies are based on WIMPs models, and more work is needed to extend them to axion detection. For instance, since axions are much colder than WIMPs in the streams, the axion signal strength can be boosted more significantly due to gravitational focusing [175]. In fact, the possible existence of cold dark matter structures has motivated alternative "high-resolution" experimental scan strategies [176]. Conversely, the discovery of an axion signal in terrestrial haloscope experiment would immediately provide information about the local velocity dispersion of dark matter and enable improved modeling of the local dark matter distribution [177].

Cosmic probes can also help guide future terrestrial searches over the much broader parameter space of axion-like particles. Cosmic observations are currently the most sensitive probes of axion-like particles coupling to photons in the mass range below $\sim 10^{-6}$ eV, see Fig. 3-8. In this regime, upcoming probes of extreme astrophysical environments, such as observations of neutron stars or a Galactic supernova, may provide positive signal of axion-like particles [8]. Such a signal could help guide the design of future terrestrial searches using lumped element approaches or superconducting radiofrequency cavities [109]. While these terrestrial experiments are currently envisioned to cover large regions axion-like particle parameter space [109], their design and operation could be accelerated if cosmic probes identified a specific target mass range and coupling strength. In the regime below $\sim 10^{-12}$ eV, cosmic probes such as searches for axion-like particle condensates through microlensing [178] and black hole superradiance [97] may yield a positive signal that could motivate the design of novel atomic clock or nuclear magnetic resonance experiments [24]. Moreover, below $\sim 10^{-12}$ eV, the length scales associated with equilibrium states for axion dark matter approach scales of astrophysical significance, making observations of cosmic phenomena an essential probe in this mass regime. For example, an axion-like particle with mass $\sim 10^{-21}$ eV produces a dwarf galaxy-scale halo with a distinct soliton core [179–181]. Cosmic probes are currently our only option for experimentally testing models in this mass regime.

3.10 Summary and Outlook

More than 80 years after the first astrophysical discovery of dark matter, its fundamental nature remains an open question. Over the last several decades, the HEP community has designed and executed extensive searches for dark matter in a wide variety of terrestrial experiments. Despite these heroic efforts, the only positive measurements of dark matter continue to come from cosmic observations. Scientific advances over the last decade have made it possible to use precision measurements of macroscopic astrophysical systems to probe the microscopic particle properties of dark matter. This Snowmass report presents the critical opportunity for the HEP community to fully realize the potential of cosmic probes of dark matter.

In this report, we have described methods of measuring fundamental properties of dark matter that are valid even when the coupling between dark matter and normal matter is extremely weak (e.g., as weak as gravity). Cosmic measurements of the distribution of dark matter, including the matter power spectrum, dark matter halos, and compact objects, can constrain particle properties of dark matter, such as the mass, interaction cross section, and production mechanism. Moreover, if dark matter has feeble non-gravitational interactions with normal matter, extreme astrophysical environments, such as neutron stars and black holes, provide unique opportunities to explore dark matter physics over 50 orders of magnitude in the mass; much of this model space is inaccessible with terrestrial experiments. In addition, precision astrophysical measurements of dark matter with current and near-future observational facilities are critical for interpreting results from conventional dark matter searches.

We have further demonstrated that with the unprecedented coverage and sensitivity of current and near-future observational facilities, the rapidly improving scale and accuracy of numerical simulations, and better theoretical modelling, astrophysical uncertainties can be controlled and the fundamental parameters of dark matter can be extracted. This makes it possible to map Lagrangian parameters describing a particular dark matter model to astrophysical observables, and vice versa. Thus cosmic probes can provide precision measurements of particle physics properties of dark matter in a way that is similar to how HEP experiments have enabled the construction of the Standard Model of particle physics.

Cosmic probes of particle properties of dark matter have emerged as a new research field since the last Snowmass community study, largely due to tremendous progress in theoretical investigations of novel dark matter scenarios, N-body simulations of structure formation, as well as astrophysical observations of dark matter distributions. There is a new and exciting trend in the HEP community that more and more theoretical particle physicists have begun working on astrophysical aspects of dark matter. At the same time, astrophysicists working on N-body simulations have started to develop simulation algorithms that can model novel dark matter scenarios beyond CDM. We must encourage and support this promising and evolving trend from both communities.

Furthermore, we must develop new mechanisms to further support synergistic efforts among theorists, simulators, dynamicists, observers, and experimentalists/instrumentalists, who are traditionally supported by different agencies and/or programs. Cosmic probes of dark matter are fundamentally multidisciplinary and interdisciplinary, and traditional disciplinary

divisions limit scientific outcomes. New support mechanisms can be pursued from small to large scales. On small scales, a program like the DOE Dark Matter New Initiatives (DMNI) is well suited to support a small-scale collaborative effort from particle physicists and astrophysicists with a well-defined scientific goal. Cosmic probes of dark matter were not included in the current DMNI program. If the program continues, we strongly urge that DOE integrates cosmic probes into its portfolio. Alternatively, a similar program could be established to make rapid progress in this emerging field.

Dark matter physics associated with current and near-future facilities, such as DESI, Rubin LSST, and CMB-S4, is extremely rich. Dark matter science should be supported within these projects on intermediate scales in parallel to studies of dark energy and inflation. Such a program will fully leverage the unprecedented capabilities of these facilities. On large scales, the construction of future cosmology experiments is critical for expanding our understanding of dark matter physics. HEP involvement will be essential for the design and construction of these facilities, and dark matter physics should be a core component of their scientific mission.

Cosmic probes of dark matter are unique and important, because they have sensitivity to microscopic physics of dark matter and provide precision measurements, regardless of whether dark matter has sizable interactions with normal matter. The HEP community has recognized the power of this approach, and it is now time to maximize its full potential. The support for comic probes, which may be the only viable way to measure dark matter properties, is essential for the decade of dark matter to come.

Bibliography

- M. Valluri et al., Snowmass2021 Cosmic Frontier White Paper: Prospects for obtaining Dark Matter Constraints with DESI, 2203.07491.
- [2] Y.-Y. Mao et al., Snowmass2021: Vera C. Rubin Observatory as a Flagship Dark Matter Experiment, 2203.07252.
- [3] C. Dvorkin et al., Dark Matter Physics from the CMB-S4 Experiment, in 2022 Snowmass Summer Study, 3, 2022 [2203.07064].
- [4] S. Chakrabarti et al., Snowmass2021 Cosmic Frontier White Paper: Observational Facilities to Study Dark Matter, in 2022 Snowmass Summer Study, 3, 2022
 [2203.06200].
- [5] K. Bechtol et al., Snowmass2021 Cosmic Frontier White Paper: Dark Matter Physics from Halo Measurements, in 2022 Snowmass Summer Study, 3, 2022 [2203.07354].
- [6] A. Banerjee et al., Snowmass2021 Cosmic Frontier White Paper: Cosmological Simulations for Dark Matter Physics, in 2022 Snowmass Summer Study, 3, 2022 [2203.07049].
- [7] S. Bird et al., Snowmass2021 Cosmic Frontier White Paper:Primordial Black Hole Dark Matter, 2203.08967.
- [8] E. Berti et al., Dark Matter In Extreme Astrophysical Environments, in 2022 Snowmass Summer Study, 3, 2022 [2203.07984].
- [9] C. Dvorkin et al., Machine Learning and Cosmology, in 2022 Snowmass Summer Study, 3, 2022 [2203.08056].
- [10] K.R. Dienes and B. Thomas, More is Different: Non-Minimal Dark Sectors and their Implications for Particle Physics, Astrophysics, and Cosmology - 13 Take-Away Lessons for Snowmass 2021, in 2022 Snowmass Summer Study, 3, 2022 [2203.17258].
- [11] J. Burns et al., A Lunar Farside Low Radio Frequency Array for Dark Ages 21-cm Cosmology, 2103.08623.
- [12] R. Brito, S. Chakrabarti, S. Clesse, C. Dvorkin, J. Garcia-Bellido, J. Meyers et al., Snowmass2021 Cosmic Frontier White Paper: Probing dark matter with small-scale astrophysical observations, 2203.15954.

- [13] M. Vogelsberger, J. Zavala, C. Simpson and A. Jenkins, Dwarf galaxies in CDM and SIDM with baryons: observational probes of the nature of dark matter, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 444 (2014) 3684 [1405.5216].
- [14] V.H. Robles, J.S. Bullock, O.D. Elbert, A. Fitts, A. González-Samaniego, M. Boylan-Kolchin et al., SIDM on FIRE: hydrodynamical self-interacting dark matter simulations of low-mass dwarf galaxies, Monthly Notices of the Royal Astronomical Society 472 (2017) 2945 [1706.07514].
- [15] A. Robertson et al., The diverse density profiles of galaxy clusters with self-interacting dark matter plus baryons, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 476 (2018) L20 [1711.09096].
- [16] P. Mocz et al., First star-forming structures in fuzzy cosmic filaments, Phys. Rev. Lett. 123 (2019) 141301 [1910.01653].
- [17] M.R. Lovell, J. Zavala, M. Vogelsberger, X. Shen, F.-Y. Cyr-Racine, C. Pfrommer et al., ETHOS – an effective theory of structure formation: predictions for the highredshift Universe – abundance of galaxies and reionization, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 477 (2018) 2886 [1711.10497].
- [18] LSST collaboration, LSST: from Science Drivers to Reference Design and Anticipated Data Products, Astrophys. J. 873 (2019) 111 [0805.2366].
- [19] LSST DARK MATTER GROUP collaboration, Probing the Fundamental Nature of Dark Matter with the Large Synoptic Survey Telescope, 1902.01055.
- [20] CMB-S4 collaboration, CMB-S4 Science Book, First Edition, 1610.02743.
- [21] CMB-S4 collaboration, Snowmass 2021 CMB-S4 White Paper, 2203.08024.
- [22] M. Battaglieri et al., US Cosmic Visions: New Ideas in Dark Matter 2017: Community Report, in U.S. Cosmic Visions: New Ideas in Dark Matter, 7, 2017 [1707.04591].
- [23] K. Abazajian et al., CMB-S4 Science Case, Reference Design, and Project Plan, 1907.04473.
- [24] D. Antypas et al., New Horizons: Scalar and Vector Ultralight Dark Matter, 2203.14915.
- [25] D.N. Schramm and G. Steigman, A neutrino-dominated universe., General Relativity and Gravitation 13 (1981) 101.
- [26] E.W. Kolb and M.S. Turner, The early universe. Collection of reprints (1988).

- [27] V.A. Lubimov, E.G. Novikov, V.Z. Nozik, E.F. Tretyakov and V.S. Kosik, An estimate of the ν_e mass from the β -spectrum of tritium in the value molecule, Physics Letters B 94 (1980) 266.
- [28] M. Aaronson, Accurate radial velocities for carbon stars in Draco and Ursa Minor :the first hint of a dwarf spheroidal mass-to-light ratio., Astrophysical Journal, Letters 266 (1983) L11.
- [29] O.E. Gerhard and D.N. Spergel, Dwarf Spheroidal Galaxies and the Mass of the Neutrino, Astrophysical Journal, Letters 389 (1992) L9.
- [30] S.D.M. White, C.S. Frenk and M. Davis, *Clustering in a neutrino-dominated universe*, *Astrophysical Journal, Letters* **274** (1983) L1.
- [31] A. Benvenuti, D. Cline, P. Cooper, M. Heagy, R. Imlay, M.E. Johnson et al., Observation of a new process with trimuon production by high-energy neutrinos, Phys. Rev. Lett. 38 (1977) 1110.
- [32] B.W. Lee and S. Weinberg, Cosmological lower bound on heavy-neutrino masses, Phys. Rev. Lett. **39** (1977) 165.
- [33] J.E. Gunn, B.W. Lee, I. Lerche, D.N. Schramm and G. Steigman, Some astrophysical consequences of the existence of a heavy stable neutral lepton., Astrophysical Journal 223 (1978) 1015.
- [34] M. Alvarez et al., Data Preservation for Cosmology, in 2022 Snowmass Summer Study, 3, 2022 [2203.08113].
- [35] K.N. Abazajian et al., Synergy between cosmological and laboratory searches in neutrino physics: a white paper, 2203.07377.
- [36] C. Dvorkin et al., The Physics of Light Relics, in 2022 Snowmass Summer Study, 3, 2022 [2203.07943].
- [37] W. Hu, R. Barkana and A. Gruzinov, Cold and fuzzy dark matter, Phys. Rev. Lett. 85 (2000) 1158 [astro-ph/0003365].
- [38] K.K. Boddy and V. Gluscevic, First Cosmological Constraint on the Effective Theory of Dark Matter-Proton Interactions, Phys. Rev. D 98 (2018) 083510 [1801.08609].
- [39] M. Viel, J. Lesgourgues, M.G. Haehnelt, S. Matarrese and A. Riotto, Constraining warm dark matter candidates including sterile neutrinos and light gravitinos with WMAP and the Lyman-alpha forest, Phys. Rev. D 71 (2005) 063534 [astro-ph/0501562].

- [40] A.M. Green, S. Hofmann and D.J. Schwarz, *The First wimpy halos*, *JCAP* 08 (2005) 003 [astro-ph/0503387].
- [41] A.L. Erickeek and K. Sigurdson, Reheating Effects in the Matter Power Spectrum and Implications for Substructure, Phys. Rev. D 84 (2011) 083503 [1106.0536].
- [42] M. Buschmann, J.W. Foster and B.R. Safdi, Early-Universe Simulations of the Cosmological Axion, Phys. Rev. Lett. 124 (2020) 161103 [1906.00967].
- [43] P.W. Graham, J. Mardon and S. Rajendran, Vector Dark Matter from Inflationary Fluctuations, Phys. Rev. D 93 (2016) 103520 [1504.02102].
- [44] M. Gorghetto, E. Hardy and G. Villadoro, More axions from strings, SciPost Phys. 10 (2021) 050 [2007.04990].
- [45] S. Chabanier, M. Millea and N. Palanque-Delabrouille, Matter power spectrum: from Lyα forest to CMB scales, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 489 (2019) 2247 [1905.08103].
- [46] PLANCK collaboration, Planck 2013 results. XVI. Cosmological parameters, Astron. Astrophys. 571 (2014) A16 [1303.5076].
- [47] M. Vogelsberger, S. Genel, V. Springel, P. Torrey, D. Sijacki, D. Xu et al., Properties of galaxies reproduced by a hydrodynamic simulation, Nature 509 (2014) 177 [1405.1418].
- [48] P.F. Hopkins et al., FIRE-2 Simulations: Physics versus Numerics in Galaxy Formation, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 480 (2018) 800 [1702.06148].
- [49] S. Tulin and H.-B. Yu, Dark Matter Self-interactions and Small Scale Structure, Phys. Rept. 730 (2018) 1 [1705.02358].
- [50] J.S. Bullock and M. Boylan-Kolchin, Small-Scale Challenges to the ΛCDM Paradigm, Ann. Rev. Astron. Astrophys. 55 (2017) 343 [1707.04256].
- [51] D. Gilman, S. Birrer, A. Nierenberg, T. Treu, X. Du and A. Benson, Warm dark matter chills out: constraints on the halo mass function and the free-streaming length of dark matter with eight quadruple-image strong gravitational lenses, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 491 (2020) 6077 [1908.06983].
- [52] E.O. Nadler, S. Birrer, D. Gilman, R.H. Wechsler, X. Du, A. Benson et al., Dark Matter Constraints from a Unified Analysis of Strong Gravitational Lenses and Milky Way Satellite Galaxies, Astrophys. J. 917 (2021) 7 [2101.07810].
- [53] S.D. McDermott, H.-B. Yu and K.M. Zurek, Turning off the Lights: How Dark is Dark Matter?, Phys. Rev. D 83 (2011) 063509 [1011.2907].

- [54] V. Gluscevic and K.K. Boddy, Constraints on Scattering of keV-TeV Dark Matter with Protons in the Early Universe, Phys. Rev. Lett. 121 (2018) 081301 [1712.07133].
- [55] K.K. Boddy, V. Gluscevic, V. Poulin, E.D. Kovetz, M. Kamionkowski and R. Barkana, Critical assessment of CMB limits on dark matter-baryon scattering: New treatment of the relative bulk velocity, Phys. Rev. D 98 (2018) 123506 [1808.00001].
- [56] E.O. Nadler, V. Gluscevic, K.K. Boddy and R.H. Wechsler, Constraints on Dark Matter Microphysics from the Milky Way Satellite Population, Astrophys. J. Lett. 878 (2019) 32 [1904.10000].
- [57] K.K. Rogers, C. Dvorkin and H.V. Peiris, Limits on the Light Dark Matter-Proton Cross Section from Cosmic Large-Scale Structure, Phys. Rev. Lett. 128 (2022) 171301 [2111.10386].
- [58] M.A. Buen-Abad, R. Essig, D. McKeen and Y.-M. Zhong, Cosmological constraints on dark matter interactions with ordinary matter, Phys. Rept. 961 (2022) 1 [2107.12377].
- [59] R. An, V. Gluscevic, E. Calabrese and J.C. Hill, What does cosmology tell us about the mass of thermal-relic dark matter?, JCAP 07 (2022) 002 [2202.03515].
- [60] G. Krnjaic and S.D. McDermott, Implications of BBN Bounds for Cosmic Ray Upscattered Dark Matter, Phys. Rev. D 101 (2020) 123022 [1908.00007].
- [61] J. Alvey, T. Bringmann and H. Kolesova, No room to hide: implications of cosmic-ray upscattering for GeV-scale dark matter, 2209.03360.
- [62] D.S. Akerib et al., Snowmass2021 Cosmic Frontier Dark Matter Direct Detection to the Neutrino Fog, in 2022 Snowmass Summer Study, 3, 2022 [2203.08084].
- [63] T. Emken and C. Kouvaris, *How blind are underground and surface detectors to strongly interacting Dark Matter?*, *Phys. Rev. D* **97** (2018) 115047 [1802.04764].
- [64] C.A.J. O'Hare, New Definition of the Neutrino Floor for Direct Dark Matter Searches, Phys. Rev. Lett. 127 (2021) 251802 [2109.03116].
- [65] M.R. Lovell, C.S. Frenk, V.R. Eke, A. Jenkins, L. Gao and T. Theuns, The properties of warm dark matter haloes, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 439 (2014) 300 [1308.1399].
- [66] M. Vogelsberger, J. Zavala, F.-Y. Cyr-Racine, C. Pfrommer, T. Bringmann and K. Sigurdson, ETHOS – an effective theory of structure formation: dark matter physics as a possible explanation of the small-scale CDM problems, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 460 (2016) 1399 [1512.05349].
- [67] X. Du, C. Behrens and J.C. Niemeyer, Substructure of fuzzy dark matter haloes, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 465 (2017) 941 [1608.02575].

- [68] K.K. Boddy et al., Astrophysical and Cosmological Probes of Dark Matter, in 2022 Snowmass Summer Study, 3, 2022 [2203.06380].
- [69] M.R. Buckley and A.H.G. Peter, Gravitational probes of dark matter physics, Phys. Rept. 761 (2018) 1 [1712.06615].
- [70] B. Carr, F. Kuhnel and M. Sandstad, Primordial Black Holes as Dark Matter, Phys. Rev. D 94 (2016) 083504 [1607.06077].
- [71] H. Niikura, M. Takada, S. Yokoyama, T. Sumi and S. Masaki, Constraints on Earthmass primordial black holes from OGLE 5-year microlensing events, Phys. Rev. D 99 (2019) 083503 [1901.07120].
- [72] N. Smyth, S. Profumo, S. English, T. Jeltema, K. McKinnon and P. Guhathakurta, Updated Constraints on Asteroid-Mass Primordial Black Holes as Dark Matter, Phys. Rev. D 101 (2020) 063005 [1910.01285].
- [73] C. Alcock, R.A. Allsman, D.R. Alves, T.S. Axelrod, A.C. Becker, D.P. Bennett et al., MACHO Project Limits on Black Hole Dark Matter in the 1-30 M_{solar} Range, Astrophysical Journal, Letters 550 (2001) L169 [astro-ph/0011506].
- [74] P. Tisserand, L. Le Guillou, C. Afonso, J.N. Albert, J. Andersen, R. Ansari et al., Limits on the Macho content of the Galactic Halo from the EROS-2 Survey of the Magellanic Clouds, Astronomy and Astrophysics 469 (2007) 387 [astro-ph/0607207].
- [75] L. Wyrzykowski, J. Skowron, S. Kozłowski, A. Udalski, M.K. Szymański, M. Kubiak et al., The OGLE view of microlensing towards the Magellanic Clouds - IV. OGLE-III SMC data and final conclusions on MACHOs, Monthly Notices of the Royal Astronomical Society 416 (2011) 2949 [1106.2925].
- [76] M. Zumalacarregui and U. Seljak, Limits on stellar-mass compact objects as dark matter from gravitational lensing of type Ia supernovae, Phys. Rev. Lett. 121 (2018) 141101 [1712.02240].
- [77] T.D. Brandt, Constraints on MACHO Dark Matter from Compact Stellar Systems in Ultra-Faint Dwarf Galaxies, Astrophys. J. Lett. 824 (2016) L31 [1605.03665].
- [78] DES collaboration, Farthest Neighbor: The Distant Milky Way Satellite Eridanus II, Astrophys. J. 838 (2017) 8 [1611.05052].
- [79] P. Lu, V. Takhistov, G.B. Gelmini, K. Hayashi, Y. Inoue and A. Kusenko, Constraining Primordial Black Holes with Dwarf Galaxy Heating, Astrophys. J. Lett. 908 (2021) L23 [2007.02213].

- [80] V. Takhistov, P. Lu, G.B. Gelmini, K. Hayashi, Y. Inoue and A. Kusenko, Interstellar gas heating by primordial black holes, JCAP 03 (2022) 017 [2105.06099].
- [81] V. Takhistov, P. Lu, K. Murase, Y. Inoue and G.B. Gelmini, Impacts of Jets and Winds From Primordial Black Holes, 2111.08699.
- [82] D.P. Quinn, M.I. Wilkinson, M.J. Irwin, J. Marshall, A. Koch and V. Belokurov, On the Reported Death of the MACHO Era, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 396 (2009) 11 [0903.1644].
- [83] J. Yoo, J. Chaname and A. Gould, The end of the MACHO era: limits on halo dark matter from stellar halo wide binaries, Astrophys. J. 601 (2004) 311 [astro-ph/0307437].
- [84] Y. Inoue and A. Kusenko, New X-ray bound on density of primordial black holes, JCAP 10 (2017) 034 [1705.00791].
- [85] Y. Ali-Haïmoud and M. Kamionkowski, Cosmic microwave background limits on accreting primordial black holes, Phys. Rev. D 95 (2017) 043534 [1612.05644].
- [86] M. Ricotti, J.P. Ostriker and K.J. Mack, Effect of Primordial Black Holes on the Cosmic Microwave Background and Cosmological Parameter Estimates, Astrophys. J. 680 (2008) 829 [0709.0524].
- [87] G.H. Xu and J.P. Ostriker, Dynamics of massive black holes as a possible candidate of Galactic dark matter, Astrophys. J. 437 (1994) 184.
- [88] A. Coogan, L. Morrison and S. Profumo, Direct Detection of Hawking Radiation from Asteroid-Mass Primordial Black Holes, Phys. Rev. Lett. 126 (2021) 171101 [2010.04797].
- [89] A. Ray, R. Laha, J.B. Muñoz and R. Caputo, Near future MeV telescopes can discover asteroid-mass primordial black hole dark matter, Phys. Rev. D 104 (2021) 023516 [2102.06714].
- [90] R.A. Street, M.B. Lund, S. Khakpash, M. Donachie, W.A. Dawson, N. Golovich et al., The Diverse Science Return from a Wide-Area Survey of the Galactic Plane, arXiv e-prints (2018) arXiv:1812.03137 [1812.03137].
- [91] R.A. Street, M.B. Lund, M. Donachie, S. Khakpash, N. Golovich, M. Penny et al., Unique Science from a Coordinated LSST-WFIRST Survey of the Galactic Bulge, arXiv e-prints (2018) arXiv:1812.04445 [1812.04445].
- [92] S.W. Ballmer et al., Snowmass2021 Cosmic Frontier White Paper: Future Gravitational-Wave Detector Facilities, in 2022 Snowmass Summer Study, 3, 2022 [2203.08228].

- [93] A. Ayala, I. Domínguez, M. Giannotti, A. Mirizzi and O. Straniero, Revisiting the bound on axion-photon coupling from Globular Clusters, Phys. Rev. Lett. 113 (2014) 191302 [1406.6053].
- [94] C.S. Reynolds, M.C.D. Marsh, H.R. Russell, A.C. Fabian, R. Smith, F. Tombesi et al., Astrophysical limits on very light axion-like particles from Chandra grating spectroscopy of NGC 1275, Astrophys. J. 890 (2020) 59 [1907.05475].
- [95] Y. Chen, Y. Liu, R.-S. Lu, Y. Mizuno, J. Shu, X. Xue et al., Stringent axion constraints with Event Horizon Telescope polarimetric measurements of M87^{*}, Nature Astron. 6 (2022) 592 [2105.04572].
- [96] C. Dessert, D. Dunsky and B.R. Safdi, Upper limit on the axion-photon coupling from magnetic white dwarf polarization, Phys. Rev. D 105 (2022) 103034 [2203.04319].
- [97] M. Baryakhtar, M. Galanis, R. Lasenby and O. Simon, Black hole superradiance of self-interacting scalar fields, Phys. Rev. D 103 (2021) 095019 [2011.11646].
- [98] M.J. Dolan, F.J. Hiskens and R.R. Volkas, Advancing Globular Cluster Constraints on the Axion-Photon Coupling, 2207.03102.
- [99] K.K. Rogers and H.V. Peiris, Strong Bound on Canonical Ultralight Axion Dark Matter from the Lyman-Alpha Forest, Phys. Rev. Lett. **126** (2021) 071302 [2007.12705].
- [100] D. Cadamuro and J. Redondo, Cosmological bounds on pseudo Nambu-Goldstone bosons, JCAP 02 (2012) 032 [1110.2895].
- [101] M.A. Fedderke, P.W. Graham and S. Rajendran, Axion Dark Matter Detection with CMB Polarization, Phys. Rev. D 100 (2019) 015040 [1903.02666].
- [102] P.F. Depta, M. Hufnagel and K. Schmidt-Hoberg, Robust cosmological constraints on axion-like particles, JCAP 05 (2020) 009 [2002.08370].
- [103] D. Wadekar and Z. Wang, Strong constraints on decay and annihilation of dark matter from heating of gas-rich dwarf galaxies, 2111.08025.
- [104] J.E. Kim, Weak Interaction Singlet and Strong CP Invariance, Phys. Rev. Lett. 43 (1979) 103.
- [105] M.A. Shifman, A.I. Vainshtein and V.I. Zakharov, QCD and Resonance Physics. Theoretical Foundations, Nucl. Phys. B 147 (1979) 385.
- [106] M. Dine, W. Fischler and M. Srednicki, A Simple Solution to the Strong CP Problem with a Harmless Axion, Phys. Lett. B 104 (1981) 199.

- [107] A.R. Zhitnitsky, On Possible Suppression of the Axion Hadron Interactions. (In Russian), Sov. J. Nucl. Phys. 31 (1980) 260.
- [108] P. Arias, D. Cadamuro, M. Goodsell, J. Jaeckel, J. Redondo and A. Ringwald, WISPy Cold Dark Matter, JCAP 06 (2012) 013 [1201.5902].
- [109] C.B. Adams et al., Axion Dark Matter, in 2022 Snowmass Summer Study, 3, 2022 [2203.14923].
- [110] C. O'Hare, cajohare/axionlimits: Axionlimits, July, 2020. 10.5281/zenodo.3932430.
- [111] K. Engel, T. Lewis, M.S. Muzio and T.M. Venters, Advancing the Landscape of Multimessenger Science in the Next Decade, in 2022 Snowmass Summer Study, 3, 2022 [2203.10074].
- [112] T. Aramaki et al., Snowmass2021 Cosmic Frontier: The landscape of cosmic-ray and high-energy photon probes of particle dark matter, 2203.06894.
- [113] K. Engel, J. Goodman, P. Huentemeyer, C. Kierans, T.R. Lewis, M. Negro et al., The Future of Gamma-Ray Experiments in the MeV-EeV Range, in 2022 Snowmass Summer Study, 3, 2022 [2203.07360].
- [114] DESI collaboration, The Dark Energy Spectroscopic Instrument (DESI), 1907.10688.
- [115] K. Dawson et al., "Next-generation Spectroscopic Surveys with DESI." https://www. snowmass21.org/docs/files/summaries/CF/SNOWMASS21-CF6_CF4_Dawson-041. pdf, 2021.
- [116] D.J. Schlegel et al., The MegaMapper: A Stage-5 Spectroscopic Instrument Concept for the Study of Inflation and Dark Energy, in 2022 Snowmass Summer Study, 9, 2022 [2209.04322].
- [117] K. Bechtol et al., Dark Matter Science in the Era of LSST, 1903.04425.
- [118] A. Lewis and A. Challinor, Weak gravitational lensing of the CMB, Phys. Rept. 429 (2006) 1 [astro-ph/0601594].
- [119] R.A. Sunyaev and Y.B. Zeldovich, The Velocity of clusters of galaxies relative to the microwave background. The Possibility of its measurement, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 190 (1980) 413.
- [120] R.A. Sunyaev and Y.B. Zeldovich, Microwave background radiation as a probe of the contemporary structure and history of the universe, Ann. Rev. Astron. Astrophys. 18 (1980) 537.

- [121] R. Caputo et al., The All-sky Medium Energy Gamma-ray Observatory eXplorer (AMEGO-X) Mission Concept, 2208.04990.
- [122] E. Orlando et al., Exploring the MeV Sky with a Combined Coded Mask and Compton Telescope: The Galactic Explorer with a Coded Aperture Mask Compton Telescope (GECCO), 2112.07190.
- [123] M. Tashiro, H. Maejima, K. Toda, R. Kelley, L. Reichenthal, J. Lobell et al., Concept of the X-ray Astronomy Recovery Mission, in Space Telescopes and Instrumentation 2018: Ultraviolet to Gamma Ray, J.-W.A. den Herder, S. Nikzad and K. Nakazawa, eds., vol. 10699 of Society of Photo-Optical Instrumentation Engineers (SPIE) Conference Series, p. 1069922, July, 2018, DOI.
- [124] D. Barret et al., The Athena X-ray Integral Field Unit, Proc. SPIE Int. Soc. Opt. Eng. 10699 (2018) 106991G [1807.06092].
- [125] STROBE-X SCIENCE WORKING GROUP collaboration, STROBE-X: X-ray Timing and Spectroscopy on Dynamical Timescales from Microseconds to Years, 1903.03035.
- [126] J. Annis, J.A. Newman and A. Slosar, Snowmass2021 Cosmic Frontier: Report of the CF04 Topical Group on Dark Energy and Cosmic Acceleration in the Modern Universe, 2209.08049.
- [127] B. Flaugher et al., Report of the Topical Group on Dark Energy and Cosmic Acceleration: Complementarity of Probes and New Facilities for Snowmass 2021, in 2022 Snowmass Summer Study, 9, 2022 [2209.08654].
- [128] S. Wolff, R. Bernstein, M. Bolte, M. Dickinson, C. Dumas and P. McCarthy, The US Extremely Large Telescope Program, in Bulletin of the American Astronomical Society, vol. 51, p. 4, Sept., 2019.
- [129] D.J. Schlegel et al., A Spectroscopic Road Map for Cosmic Frontier: DESI, DESI-II, Stage-5, in 2022 Snowmass Summer Study, 9, 2022 [2209.03585].
- [130] D.J. Schlegel et al., Astro2020 APC White Paper: The MegaMapper: $a \ z > 2$ Spectroscopic Instrument for the Study of Inflation and Dark Energy, 1907.11171.
- [131] T.S. Li et al., Astrophysical Tests of Dark Matter with Maunakea Spectroscopic Explorer, 1903.03155.
- [132] R. Ellis et al., SpecTel: A 10-12 meter class Spectroscopic Survey Telescope, 1907.06797.
- [133] R. Bernstein et al., Giant Magellan Telescope Science Book 2018, 2018.

- [134] TMT INTERNATIONAL SCIENCE DEVELOPMENT TEAMS & TMT SCIENCE ADVISORY COMMITTEE collaboration, Thirty Meter Telescope Detailed Science Case: 2015, Res. Astron. Astrophys. 15 (2015) 1945 [1505.01195].
- [135] CMB-HD collaboration, Snowmass2021 CMB-HD White Paper, 2203.05728.
- [136] R.J. Selina, E.J. Murphy, M. McKinnon, A. Beasley, B. Butler, C. Carilli et al., *The ngVLA Reference Design*, in *Science with a Next Generation Very Large Array*, E. Murphy, ed., vol. 517 of *Astronomical Society of the Pacific Conference Series*, p. 15, Dec., 2018 [1810.08197].
- [137] G. Hallinan, V. Ravi, S. Weinreb, J. Kocz, Y. Huang, D.P. Woody et al., The DSA-2000 — A Radio Survey Camera, in Bulletin of the American Astronomical Society, vol. 51, p. 255, Sept., 2019 [1907.07648].
- [138] J.O. Burns, R. MacDowall, S. Bale, G. Hallinan, N. Bassett and A. Hegedus, Low Radio Frequency Observations from the Moon Enabled by NASA Landed Payload Missions, PSJ 2 (2021) 44 [2102.02331].
- [139] PUMA collaboration, Packed Ultra-wideband Mapping Array (PUMA): A Radio Telescope for Cosmology and Transients, Bull. Am. Astron. Soc. 51 (2019) 53 [1907.12559].
- [140] D.R. DeBoer et al., Hydrogen Epoch of Reionization Array (HERA), Publ. Astron. Soc. Pac. 129 (2017) 045001 [1606.07473].
- [141] DES collaboration, Milky Way Satellite Census. III. Constraints on Dark Matter Properties from Observations of Milky Way Satellite Galaxies, Phys. Rev. Lett. 126 (2021) 091101 [2008.00022].
- [142] E.O. Nadler, Y.-Y. Mao, G.M. Green and R.H. Wechsler, Modeling the Connection between Subhalos and Satellites in Milky Way-like Systems, Astrophys. J. 873 (2019) 34 [1809.05542].
- [143] H. Nishikawa, K.K. Boddy and M. Kaplinghat, Accelerated core collapse in tidally stripped self-interacting dark matter halos, Phys. Rev. D 101 (2020) 063009 [1901.00499].
- [144] M. Kaplinghat, M. Valli and H.-B. Yu, Too Big To Fail in Light of Gaia, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 490 (2019) 231 [1904.04939].
- [145] O. Sameie, H.-B. Yu, L.V. Sales, M. Vogelsberger and J. Zavala, Self-Interacting Dark Matter Subhalos in the Milky Way's Tides, Phys. Rev. Lett. 124 (2020) 141102 [1904.07872].

- [146] J. Zavala, M.R. Lovell, M. Vogelsberger and J.D. Burger, Diverse dark matter density at sub-kiloparsec scales in Milky Way satellites: Implications for the nature of dark matter, Phys. Rev. D 100 (2019) 063007 [1904.09998].
- [147] C.A. Correa, Constraining velocity-dependent self-interacting dark matter with the Milky Way's dwarf spheroidal galaxies, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 503 (2021) 920 [2007.02958].
- [148] H.C. Turner, M.R. Lovell, J. Zavala and M. Vogelsberger, The onset of gravothermal core collapse in velocity-dependent self-interacting dark matter subhaloes, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 505 (2021) 5327 [2010.02924].
- [149] M. Silverman, J.S. Bullock, M. Kaplinghat, V.H. Robles and M. Valli, Motivations for a Large Self-Interacting Dark Matter Cross Section from Milky Way Satellites, 2203.10104.
- [150] Q.E. Minor, S. Gad-Nasr, M. Kaplinghat and S. Vegetti, An unexpected high concentration for the dark substructure in the gravitational lens SDSSJ0946+1006, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 507 (2021) 1662 [2011.10627].
- [151] D. Yang and H.-B. Yu, Self-interacting dark matter and small-scale gravitational lenses in galaxy clusters, Phys. Rev. D 104 (2021) 103031 [2102.02375].
- [152] D. Gilman, J. Bovy, T. Treu, A. Nierenberg, S. Birrer, A. Benson et al., Strong lensing signatures of self-interacting dark matter in low-mass haloes, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 507 (2021) 2432 [2105.05259].
- [153] D. Gilman, Y.-M. Zhong and J. Bovy, Constraining resonant dark matter selfinteractions with strong gravitational lenses, 2207.13111.
- [154] A.c. Şengül and C. Dvorkin, Probing Dark Matter with Strong Gravitational Lensing through an Effective Density Slope, 2206.10635.
- [155] J.L. Feng et al., *The Forward Physics Facility at the High-Luminosity LHC*, 2203.05090.
- [156] LESA CONSTRUCTION TEAM collaboration, The SLAC Linac to ESA (LESA) Beamline for Dark Sector Searches and Test Beams, in 2022 Snowmass Summer Study, 5, 2022 [2205.13215].
- [157] P. Ilten et al., Experiments and Facilities for Accelerator-Based Dark Sector Searches, in 2022 Snowmass Summer Study, 6, 2022 [2206.04220].

- [158] F.-Y. Cyr-Racine, K. Sigurdson, J. Zavala, T. Bringmann, M. Vogelsberger and C. Pfrommer, ETHOS—an effective theory of structure formation: From dark particle physics to the matter distribution of the Universe, Phys. Rev. D 93 (2016) 123527 [1512.05344].
- [159] R. Huo, M. Kaplinghat, Z. Pan and H.-B. Yu, Signatures of Self-Interacting Dark Matter in the Matter Power Spectrum and the CMB, Phys. Lett. B 783 (2018) 76 [1709.09717].
- [160] M. Kaplinghat, S. Tulin and H.-B. Yu, Dark Matter Halos as Particle Colliders: Unified Solution to Small-Scale Structure Puzzles from Dwarfs to Clusters, Phys. Rev. Lett. 116 (2016) 041302 [1508.03339].
- [161] S. Adhikari et al., Astrophysical Tests of Dark Matter Self-Interactions, 2207.10638.
- [162] B. Carr, M. Raidal, T. Tenkanen, V. Vaskonen and H. Veermäe, Primordial black hole constraints for extended mass functions, Phys. Rev. D 96 (2017) 023514 [1705.05567].
- [163] C.Y. Lam et al., An isolated mass gap black hole or neutron star detected with astrometric microlensing, 2202.01903.
- [164] C.Y. Lam, J.R. Lu, M.W. Hosek, W.A. Dawson and N.R. Golovich, PopSyCLE: A New Population Synthesis Code for Compact Object Microlensing Events, 1912.04510.
- [165] A. Kusenko and L.J. Rosenberg, Working Group Report: Non-WIMP Dark Matter, in Community Summer Study 2013: Snowmass on the Mississippi, 10, 2013 [1310.8642].
- [166] ADMX collaboration, Extended Search for the Invisible Axion with the Axion Dark Matter Experiment, Phys. Rev. Lett. 124 (2020) 101303 [1910.08638].
- [167] HAYSTAC collaboration, A quantum-enhanced search for dark matter axions, Nature 590 (2021) 238 [2008.01853].
- [168] ADMX collaboration, Search for Invisible Axion Dark Matter in the 3.3-4.2 μeV Mass Range, Phys. Rev. Lett. 127 (2021) 261803 [2110.06096].
- [169] A.M. Green, Astrophysical uncertainties on the local dark matter distribution and direct detection experiments, J. Phys. G 44 (2017) 084001 [1703.10102].
- [170] K. Freese, P. Gondolo, H.J. Newberg and M. Lewis, The effects of the Sagittarius dwarf tidal stream on dark matter detectors, Phys. Rev. Lett. 92 (2004) 111301 [astro-ph/0310334].
- [171] C. Savage, K. Freese and P. Gondolo, Annual Modulation of Dark Matter in the Presence of Streams, Phys. Rev. D 74 (2006) 043531 [astro-ph/0607121].

- [172] M.S. Alenazi and P. Gondolo, Phase-space distribution of unbound dark matter near the Sun, Phys. Rev. D 74 (2006) 083518 [astro-ph/0608390].
- [173] Y. Sofue, Gravitational Focusing of Low-Velocity Dark Matter on the Earth's Surface, Galaxies 8 (2020) 42 [2005.08252].
- [174] S.K. Lee, M. Lisanti, A.H.G. Peter and B.R. Safdi, Effect of Gravitational Focusing on Annual Modulation in Dark-Matter Direct-Detection Experiments, Phys. Rev. Lett. 112 (2014) 011301 [1308.1953].
- [175] "Gravitational focusing of dark matter streams in solar neighborhood and implications for detection." https://agenda.infn.it/event/20431/contributions/137662/ attachments/82466/108343/DM_Streams_Talk_PatrasWorkshop2021.pdf.
- [176] ADMX collaboration, A high resolution search for dark-matter axions, Phys. Rev. D 74 (2006) 012006 [astro-ph/0603108].
- [177] J.W. Foster, N.L. Rodd and B.R. Safdi, Revealing the Dark Matter Halo with Axion Direct Detection, Phys. Rev. D 97 (2018) 123006 [1711.10489].
- [178] S. Sugiyama, M. Takada and A. Kusenko, Possible evidence of QCD axion stars in HSC and OGLE microlensing events, arXiv e-prints (2021) arXiv:2108.03063 [2108.03063].
- [179] H.-Y. Schive, T. Chiueh and T. Broadhurst, Cosmic Structure as the Quantum Interference of a Coherent Dark Wave, Nature Phys. 10 (2014) 496 [1406.6586].
- [180] P. Mocz, M. Vogelsberger, V.H. Robles, J. Zavala, M. Boylan-Kolchin, A. Fialkov et al., Galaxy formation with BECDM – I. Turbulence and relaxation of idealized haloes, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 471 (2017) 4559 [1705.05845].
- [181] N. Glennon, E.O. Nadler, N. Musoke, A. Banerjee, C. Prescod-Weinstein and R.H. Wechsler, *Tidal disruption of solitons in self-interacting ultralight axion dark matter*, *Physics Review D* 105 (2022) 123540 [2205.10336].